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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

YRR

Result E 4
Year ended 31 December
HENANMBLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20204 20194 20184 20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR® TR | ARBTFT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR
Revenue A 38,891 63,377 43,385 38,617 31,179
Profit before tax B B A1 0 A 25,215 33,316 35,300 13,895 20,716
Income tax expense FiT 15 35 5 32 (7,674) (9,765) (7,053) (6,772) (4,523)
Profit and total comprehensive KRAHEBANENL
income for the year attributable  EEEMRE2E
to owners of the Company W= B 17,541 23,551 28,247 7,123 16,193
Assets and Liabilities EERAEE
As at 31 December
M12A31A8
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20204 20194 20184 20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR | ARETRT AR®TI ARBTT ARETR
Total assets BEE 253,376 235,344 220,963 176,060 135,808
Total liabilities BEE 83,354 82,863 92,033 87,633 80,660
Total equity attributable to owners AR A B A EMG
of the Company 1% B 170,022 152,481 128,930 88,427 55,148
Financial Statistics Bt 3% 4% 5
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20204 20194 20184 20174 20164
Current ratio’ ME) B 12.1 93 52 2.4 1.7
Gearing ratio (%)’ EEBELE%) 32.9 35.2 417 498 59.4
Return on total assets (%) BEERRE(%) 6.9 10.0 12.8 4.1 11.9
Net profit margin (%)* % NE E (%) 45.1 37.2 65.1 18.5 51.9
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Financial Summary

M E

Key Financial Data

FTEMBEE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20204 20194 20184 20174 20164
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
AR¥ AR AR AR AR
Earnings per share — basic® BRAF — EAES 0.018 0.024 0.028 0.009 0.022
Net assets value per share® BREEFMES 0.170 0.152 0.129 0.108 0.074
Notes: B 3E -
1. Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities. 1. RBLEDRABDEERURDEETE -
2. Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total liabilities by total assets. 2. EEBBRERDNRBEBERUNEEETE -
3. Return on total assets is calculated by dividing the profit for the year 3. BEERREDNERFANEMNRANBREETE -

by total assets.

4. Net profit margin is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by
revenue.

5. Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to
owners of the Company for the year by weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

6. Net assets value per share is calculated by dividing the net assets by
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
Net assets represent total assets less total liabilities.

4. FNEEDRFERNENGRASEBE -

5. BRANTDRARRFE ARG FRREN R IAF
NEBTEBRZMEFHEFE -

6. BREEFEDNRFEERNFACEITEAR
ZIMETFHHAHE AEFERGEENLERE -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TEHREE

Dear honourable shareholders,

During the Period, the Group was principally engaged in the sale of burial plots and
columbarium units, provision of other burial-related services and provision of cemetery

maintenance services.

ENEHHRRE:

RZHERN AEEZ2XEHEEWRERE R EMEZRERS MNEE#E

AR 7%

Dear Shareholders,
Hello, everyone!

Year of Rat wrote the history and bid farewell to the old year, and
Year of Ox is going to turn things around and usher in new
opportunities. On behalf of the Board of the Company and in my
own name, | would like to express my sincere respect and true
blessings to all shareholders, investors and friends from all sectors!

| am pleased to present, on behalf of the Board of Directors of
China Wan Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”), the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

The year of 2020 is an extraordinary year. The sudden outbreak of
COVID-19 at the beginning of the year has bought a tremendous
impact on the domestic and overseas economic development,
production and life, but it still cannot impede our efforts to move
forward. As we go along with our journey, we have not only able to
overcome many difficulties, but also gained much love and warm the
hearts. We adhere to the principle of “Customer first and quality
service”, give full play to the spirit of overcoming difficulties and
making progress, and spare no effort to promote the steady
development of various businesses. In 2020, the operating revenue of
the Company amounted to RMB38.9 million, the profit attributable
to shareholders amounted to RMB17.5 million.
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Zhao Ying,
Non-Executive Director and Chairman
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

The Company firmly defend the “epidemic” line and work
together to fight against the epidemic. In the face of severe
epidemic, we firmly defend the front line. On the basis of strictly
implementing various epidemic prevention measures and elimination
and investigation of fire hazards and hidden danger in key regions,
we focused on optimizing and upgrading the “Cloud
Tomb-sweeping (EZ£24%)" service, and launched various convenient
measures such as online tomb-sweepings (# & £ %), tomb-
sweepings service on behalf of customers (X & £ &),
tomb-sweeping together in Ching Ming Festival (/& B £ £2), funeral
reservation (FB#)% %¢) and tomb-sweeping reservation (78 %) %24%).
While ensuring stable and orderly operation, the service model was
innovated and upgraded.

Stable operation and continuous expansion of principal
business. With its long-established brand strength and good
reputation, the Company has been well recognized by local
governments and the public and has obtained more market
expansion opportunities. In June 2020, the Group successfully won
the bid for the cemetery project of the relocation and resettlement
area of Beijing New Airport (Langfang area). In July, the Group
established a joint venture, Langfang Linkong Wantong Cemetery
Co., Ltd. (BIERZEE M AEHFR A A]) with Langfang Xinhangcheng
Real Estate Development Co., Limited (BRI ¥ B E M ER B
R 2 |]), focusing on promoting project construction and operation.
In addition, the Company also focused on promoting the
columbarium relocation and storage service for villages in the
relocation and resettlement area of Beijing New Airport (Langfang
region), which further consolidated the Company’s market position in
Langfang region and the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis.

Adhere to the original aspiration and unremittingly practice
public welfare. The Company continuously promotes traditional
culture and fulfills social responsibilities with practical actions. The
Company will continue to carry out charitable activities regularly
such as public welfare visits and helping the disabled and the
elderly, and make every effort to spread love and charity power.
Affected by the epidemic this year, although it cannot physically
reach the elderly and children, all kinds of warm-hearted donated
materials have actually passed the warmth and care of the Company
to the needy, and have won wide recognition from all sectors of
society.

BRI BEMEBRD @HBRKROEE -
BART R EERRTEEHRB|ENES
BEEAXREHENERL  BEHEBLEARIER
BIRYE HLEEER KEERF BHAR.
BHARBNBOERSZRERER  E#RER
EAFEENEE  REEXSE T RIFIAR -

REEE IEXBIEHAR Q2R ERERYE
ZHRBEENNREOE  AXHFTBRFIRR
R EESTEZHMSRRMEE - 2020664
KR RFH RS (B RE) MEBLERAE
BEE YRR EEISmHMBEMEMEAR
RABAERIBYBEERNRAEERAR  EH
WEBRBEREES UL RAAEEH ML
REES(BYREDELZERENEERER
MEEFRYE E£—FTEBTARERIMERIAR
FOREE T B WIS o

BFHOL - BTABEFLD - RAITEUERT
PoapEsRXt BTHeaE BREHMAE
RERA PDREZZEELD BOMLEE
BELRGNEB -SFEXRBEE BATRED
ENRZTFHEE BEREABERLHBRYENE
BEEAEMEETAEXNEBRBAR RETHE
&R EZRBA -

>
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

Hundreds of boats compete and only who try hard will lead.
Thousands of boats set sailing and only who dare to advance will
win! In 2021, the Company will continue to adhere to the modern,
green and humanistic funeral concept, give full play to its
professional, service, capital advantages and resource integration
capabilities, and commit to the development of the current funeral
business. On the basis of improving the management, service and
operation standards, the Company will actively focus on the merger
and acquisition opportunities in the Jing-Jin-Ji region and even the
Asia region, and increase the asset layout of the principal funeral
business, so as to lay a solid foundation for the long-term
sustainable development of the business, bring more stable profit
growth to the Company, and reward the Shareholders for their
support and love to the Company.

Those who persist will turn difficult into easy, and those who keep
going will achieve even the journey is long. We firmly believe that
only by constantly working hard can we realize our dreams, we can
have the future with courage. Let us join hands together to create a
new chapter in 2021.

Chairman: Zhao Ying
29 March 2021, Hong Kong
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEN W& D

Business Review

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the sale of
burial plots and columbarium units, provision of other burial-related
services and provision of cemetery maintenance services in Langfang.

Sales of burial plots and columbarium units and provision
of other burial-related services

Burial services were the largest component of our revenue,
representing 89.4% of our revenue for the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: 94.0%).

The burial services market in Langfang is concentrated. Demand for
our burial services and growth in our revenue are driven by the
overall demand for burial services in Langfang and the Jing-Jin-Ji
megalopolis at large. We believe our reputation, quality of services,
and well-maintained and conveniently located facilities allow us to
compete effectively in Langfang. The Company is optimistic that this
operation will be continuously developed and expanded.

Provision of cemetery maintenance services

We provide ongoing cemetery maintenance services as an integral
part of our burial services to maintain our beautiful landscaped
cemetery. Customers pay for maintenance fees upfront when they
sign the sales contracts to purchase the burial plots. Our revenue
from cemetery maintenance was RMB4.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2020 (2019: RMB3.8 million).

Strengths
Burial services provider strategically located in Langfang

Through our longstanding presence in Langfang, we believe that we
have accumulated valuable knowledge about the local customs and
preferences in terms of burial practices. Leveraging our brand power
and well-established reputation accumulated over a long time, the
recognition from local government and the public, and supported by
the available land parcels within our cemetery and the broadened
customer base as well as the long-standing stickiness of our
customers, we believe we are able to continue to grow our business
by making additional burial plots based on customer demand and
providing better services. Subject to strict regulatory restrictions and
entry barriers and government zoning policies, we therefore believe
our well-established operation model presents us a considerable first-
mover advantage over potential competitors, assisting us to
penetrate the burial services market in Langfang and the Jing-Jin-Ji
megalopolis at large and obtain more expansion opportunities in the
market.

E 3 JE
FRAEETEREERTHEE MR RE -
REHEEMBEERRSE MIEHERGZERS

& 3 N B RS R BB B A PR 2R AR B AR

BERBERMUENTAERT D  HEHE
2020912 A318 1E F E F 1M Y = #989.4% (2019
£ :94.0%) °

BYBRERBMSEET HEMABZRFEOFX
REMNKREERTABY RBERZELTE
BERBNERTRTE - RMBEEHEMD
BE RBER #ERTFRMEBRBMORE &
MAEBSERBEF ARAHILEBSHER
F 8 ok R B S8R -

REEEHERS

B ERRBEEERE R ERES &
EREMBEZERBE IR —IR BRI EE
EMEEANRRA XN EES - 5 220205
NRANBLEFE BMEEEELERENORE B
ARBEAIEE L (20195 : A\RBEISHE L) °

B3

{7 50 BRIy B S 1 BR O TR SR R TG L B 7
HREMBRFEABY TS SHAEHRMAERT
BEENAWMBARRESERBOANE - BER
MEMERNREENMRGEOE BRI K
FMREZRY SENERTABRER SR
MEFPUEREFPHNREHMEE  BHABGEHRMA
EREPHBIABMEHEE AR F R
FEERER RN ERNEE RS AEAM
BARBFEMERE Bt RABEETZHE
ERAMTRMADBESFHTFEALENES
B2 ARG M2 R EBEERETS
ESEZNMZMREKE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE R wm M oA

Comprehensive burial services to satisfy diversified
customer needs

Instead of basic burial services which only have limited scope for
unique designs or customization, we offer diversified burial services
to customers with different preferences and budgets and attract local
customers who are willing to pay a price premium for unique
designs or customization and customers from neighboring cities
where affordable burial sites have become increasingly sparse. We
can provide more professional and diverse extended services, launch
various product types at different price points and focus on
upgrading our “Cloud Tomb-sweeping” services to satisfy customers’
various needs with high-quality services of different types;
meanwhile, we are able to cater to different preferences of
customers by more comprehensively improving our plans and service
quality in aspects such as burial plot maintenance, burial and tomb-
sweeping.

Brand associated with professionalism and commitment to
social responsibility

We operate our cemetery under the brand "“&#dE (Wan Tong
Yuan)” and cooperate with a network of third-party funeral service
providers in Langfang which refer customers to us. We believe that
our brand exemplifies our professionalism and commitment to social
responsibility. We strive to provide professional burial services to our
customers. To this end, we provide on-the-job training to all
employees, with a strong focus on cultivating their moral character.
We believe that employees with sufficient industry experience and a
virtuous character are better suited to attending customers with
professionalism and delicacy. We also keep abreast of market
changes and customer demand from our daily operations.

We continuously promote traditional culture and perform social
responsibility with practical actions. We insist on holding charity
activities such as charity visits and caring the disabled and the
elderly. Even under the pandemic, we still spread our care and
tenderness by donating heart-warming supplies. On top of improving
corporate reputation, we also emphasis more on our role as a
revolutionary education base to promote the spirit of revolutionary
tradition and to educate the young generation. We are also
committed to taking more social responsibilities and responsible for
the placement and storage of cremains transferred from urban
villages or anonymous cremains referred by social welfare
institutions.

10 CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

HTEEF ujnfﬂﬂ& jfﬁ

Committed, experienced and stable management team

We believe that our committed, professional, experienced and stable
management team enables us to form a vision of long-term
development, closely follow the market trends and customer
preferences with industry insights to adjust our business strategies
and execute our business initiatives on a consistent basis. We
provide regular professional training with an aim to build an efficient
and orderly management team, while at the same time provide
scientific and reasonable remuneration system and career path, and
attractive benefits package for all employees to achieve health and
stable development in our team.

Outlook

The sales of the Group’s burial services used to peak during February
and March and around the Qing Ming Festival in the prior years.
Due to the impact of the outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus
(“COVID-19"), the Group had been facing significant challenges in
its business development. With that said, the Group will continue to
uphold its belief and cooperate with the government on the anti-
epidemic work, focusing on upgrading our “Cloud Tomb-sweeping”
services. On top of ensuring stable and ordered operation, we will
continue to innovate and enhance our cemetery operations and
provide quality services to our customers.

The Group aspires to strengthen its market position in Langfang and
expand its business in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis and beyond
through the following strategies.

Focus on developing the JV Cemetery Project

Currently, the planning and tendering of the joint venture cemetery
project (“JV Cemetery Project”) between the Group and Langfang
Xinhangcheng Real Estate Development Co., Limited (BB 37 #7 i 3k
b E % B R 2 7, “Xinhangcheng”) is completed. The JV
Cemetery Project will be one of the major development projects of
the Group next year. The Group will continue its proactive
development and further communicate with related departments
regarding matters concerning land expropriation and land use
planning. The Directors believe that the implementation and the
continued development of and investment into the JV Cemetery
Project will facilitate the Group in consolidating and expanding its
market position in Langfang and the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE R wm M oA

Looking forward, the Group will continue to selectively acquire,
invest in or enter into strategic partnerships with other death care
services providers, including funeral services providers and cemetery
operators. The Group bases its selection criteria on, among other
things, brand name, location, land cost, land reserves and
profitability. The Group generally favors cemeteries located in
wealthy and densely populated provinces, where there is a higher
demand for high-quality death care services. In particular, the Group
seeks to prioritize business expansion opportunities with death care
services providers in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis and bring synergy to
its current operations. Meanwhile, it will also explore potential
acquisition or investment in other regions. In addition to the
downstream industry of burial services, the Group is also committed
to seeking development in the upstream industry, for example,
palliative care services, to expand its business opportunities and to
identify strategic alliance. Therefore, the Directors believe that the
Group will achieve industrial integration from aging to burial for a
diverse range of customers.

Strengthen the market position in Langfang

Apart from the above JV Cemetery Project which facilitate the Group
in further consolidating its market position and reputation in
Langfang, the Company believes that a more elegant environment of
the cemetery with warmer, more diversified and person-centered
services would enable the Company to address the customers’
various needs and preferences. Thus, the Group will launch various
product types at different price point and optimize its funeral
services. Meanwhile, the Group will continuously upgrade and plan
to further develop its cemetery, especially the environment in
cemeteries, upgrade its facilities and diversify its service offerings. In
addition to the further development of its cemetery as mentioned
above, in terms of our funeral services, the Group will add more
professional and diverse extended services. The Group will also
increase its effort in promotion and marketing, utilizing online sales
platforms to promote the services of the Group in multiple channels.
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In addition, in view of the rapid development of Langfang, which is
benefited from the overall development of the Jing-Jin-Ji
megalopolis, the local government has been carrying out the urban
planning and construction. During this process, it may involve the
migration of the villagers and resettlement of the cremains of their
deceased relatives. As a licensed and well established cemetery, in
possession of both capability and capacity, the Group provides
columbarium collective storage services to meet the demand arising
from the local government'’s city development plan on one hand, and
broaden its income source on the other. The Group will continue to
cooperate with and support the local government’s city development
plan, providing funeral services and columbarium storage services and
undertaking tomb moving projects and adding columbarium storage
services for multiple villages at Beijing New Airport Zone (Langfang
Region).

The Directors believe that, with the brand power and the well-
established reputation of the Group accumulated over a long time,
as well as the continued development of the projects above, we will
further consolidate strengthen the Group’s market position in
Langfang.

Expand the business scope to provide funeral services

The Group generated substantially all of its revenue from burial
services and has also forged stable business relationship with a
number of local funeral services providers which refer customers to
the Group. The Directors believe, however, that one-stop-shop
services integrating funeral and burial services are able to confer a
significant competitive advantage, while also ensure a seamless and
smooth experience at each stage of the process. The Group has set
up service sites at Langfang Funeral Parlor (EE35T17E{#%#8), and
assigned specialists to introduce cemetery-related services, deal with
pre-service business and promote to and identify prospective
customers. The Group will continue to provide professional and
general skill training for its employees and recruit funeral service
specialists, in order to provide more professional and comprehensive
services to our customers.
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The Group will step up from providing only burial services to
providing integrated funeral services and burial services, where we
will launch different product types at different price points and add
more professional and diverse extended services in aspects such as
burial plot maintenance, burial and tomb-sweeping, so as to expand
and enhance our service package. Meanwhile, the Group will
proactively negotiate with the government and related departments
of Langfang concerning the future cooperation plans, in order to
provide more services for the locals and our customers, including the
provision of burial services, funeral services and columbarium storage
services, expanding our coverage through multiple channels.

The Group believes that the active progression and development of
the JV Cemetery Project can further strengthen the brand power and
reputation of the Group and allow for further recognition from the
local government, which will facilitate the Group in competing for
cooperation and expansion opportunities.

Tap further into the burial services market in the Jing-Jin-
Ji megalopolis

Leveraging on the Group’s strategic location in Langfang and
proximity to regional hubs in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis, the Group
continues to pay effort to tap further into the burial services market
in this region, especially in Beijing, where affordable burial plots have
become increasingly sparse and local residents become increasingly
mobile with the integration of communities and the construction of
a web of high-speed intercity transportation infrastructure. On top of
the existing cooperation, the Group will exert more effort in visiting,
planning and relationship building, while formulating effective sales
events and promotion plans. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to
devote more marketing resources to serving the neighboring cities
and further develop cooperation with local funeral services providers
as its business partners, so as to explore quality partners through
various channels.
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Financial Review
Revenue

Our revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020 was substantially
generated from: (i) sale of burial plots, which includes the control of
the burial plots and headstones and other ancillary products to be
used on the burial plots; (ii) sale of columbarium units, which
includes the control of the columbarium units and other ancillary
products to be used on columbarium units; (iii) other burial-related
services such as the organization and conducting of interment
rituals, the design, construction and landscaping of the burial plots,
and the engraving of inscriptions and ceramic photographs on the
headstones; and (iv) cemetery maintenance services. The table below
sets forth a breakdown of our revenue:

Bt 7% B B8

W %

H A Z2020F12A318 It FE R KD %K
B ()VEmEeE BEEmiEfRERER L NE
FHRANEMREER: WMEEERB 2EBK
BB ¥ I 4 e H b T B A A (i E b 7B 2E A R AR
B PINMEZHERBILREEAARELNRS
BERSEH RERBRASXLBABREREE
RS R(vVEBEEERS - TERSHE MU
R4

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MBLLEE

2020 2019
2020F 20194
% of total % of total
Revenue revenue Revenue revenue
1l 48 0 2% 1 @ =
i B U 7 Elzlsd
(RMB’'000) % (RMB'000) %
(ANR¥F ) (AR®EFT)
Burial Services 7B 5 AR 1%
Sales of burial plots HEE 29,595 76.1% 30,228 47.7%
Sale of columbarium units & B K EB 1,682 4.3% 24,886 39.3%
Provision of other burial-related IR E M EZEEE
services R 7% 3,484 9.0% 4,472 7.0%
34,761 89.4% 59,586 94.0%
Provision of cemetery maintenance 1%t £ & % # R 7%
services 4,130 10.6% 3,791 6.0%
38,891 100.0% 63,377 100.0%

2020 F - HEBME (FER)ARAR



Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRE R m MO

Due to a single customer centralised the purchase of columbarium
units of RMB24.9 million in 2019, the sale of the of columbarium
units was at RMB1.7 million in 2020 (2019: RMB24.9 million), with
an significant decrease of 93.2%, which contributed to the
substantial decrease in total revenue for the year. The Group’s
revenue was decreased by 38.6% from RMB63.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019 to RMB38.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2020.

Cost of sales and services

Cost of sales and services consist primarily of the costs we incurred
in relation to the provision of our services. Our cost of sales and
services was at RMB6.0 million in 2020 (2019: RMB12.8 million), with
a decrease of 53.0%.

F019F A — BB FPEFRETRBHEEARE
249B &L MMN2020%F  AEBHEEIRERHEE
ARBI17EET(2019F : ARBE249HE T)
AR A93.2%  AMSE FHBNEEZERLD -
AEBEM U BHEE2019F12A318 EFEH A
R#63.48 8 TR 238.6% 2 & £2020612A31H
IHFFEEHNAREISIAET

#HE MR KA
HELRBRAZIZEBEREMAARHRRBELDN
B o T P920205F M S E R RGN A B AR 6.0
B 8 r(2019%F: A R #1288 & T) ' & &
53.0% -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLFE

2020 2019

20204 20194
Cost of % of total Cost of % of total
sales and cost of sales sales and  cost of sales
services and services services  and services
HBEHER HRHE R
HER PR 7 FX 2% HE & AR 7 X <
BR 7% A AR BatE AR 75 B 2R ENiNs
(RMB’000) % (RMB’000) %

(AR%T ) (AR®EFT)

Burial services 7B 22 R 15 5,628 93.8% 12,150 95.2%
Cemetery maintenance ERgE 370 6.2% 613 4.8%
5,998 100.0% 12,763 100.0%

The Group’s cost of sales and services consist primarily of the costs
it incurred in relation to the provision of its services, including the
headstone cost, construction cost of columbaria, land acquisition
cost, cemetery maintenance cost, burial-related cost and others.

The Group's cost of sales and services for burial service decreased
significantly by 53% from RMB12.2 million in 2019 to RMB6.0
million in 2020, primarily due to the decrease in sales of the
columbarium units in 2020. The Group's cost of sales and services
for cemetery maintenance decreased from RMBO0.6 million in 2019 to
RMBO.4 million in 2020.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

EFRERE

Gross profit represents revenue less cost of sales and services. Our
gross profit for 2020 and 2019 was RMB32.9 million and RMB50.6
million, respectively.

T H) B0 UR 25 R 85 B R AR 7S AR AN o 3k 11920204 K
2009 M EFD A AARKENIBAETREARK
50.6F & T °

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A3MBLEE

2020 2019

2020 2019%F
Gross Gross profit Gross  Gross profit
profit margin profit margin
EF ERME =M ERE
(RMB'000) % (RMB'000) %

(AR%T ) (AREBTFIT)

Burial services B2 IR 1% 29,133 83.8 47,436 79.6%
Cemetery maintenance HE#E 3,760 91.0 3,178 83.8%
32,893 84.6 50,614 79.9%

Our overall gross profit margin for 2020 and 2019 was 84.6% and
79.9%, respectively. Our relatively high gross profit margins during
the year were primarily due to (i) the relatively high gross profit
margins in the burial industry; (ii) our ability to provide high-quality
burial services; and (iii) the relatively low land acquisition cost for our
cemetery.

The higher gross profit margin percentage for 2020 is mainly due to
higher construction costs of the new columbaria resulting in a lower
gross profit margin for the sale of certain columbarium units in
2019. The gross profit margin percentage of the provision of
cemetery maintenance services increased by approximately 7%-point
year-on-year, mainly due to higher other greening sporadic expenses
in 2019.

Other income

The Group’s other income increased significantly by 106.1% from
RMB4.9 million in 2019 to RMB10.1 million in 2020. This increase
was primarily due to an amount payable of RMB6.0 million was
waived by the counter party.

3 P92020F R2019F MY E B8 EF X 5 5l £84.6%
%79.9% - KM FARNEMNEEERS T ERH
ROBZEITENEMNERERS  (HFRMIAEHIRME
BEBERS - KGR M E R B - b U8 A48
K o

20205 B = WO £ R = B il 0T B KRR A R E AR
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Distribution and selling expenses

Our distribution and selling expenses increased by 6.4% from
RMB6.6 million for 2019 to RMB7.1 million for 2020. This increase
was primarily due to higher commission and disbursements for
promoting the sales of burial plots during the year given the impact
of COVID-19.

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses decreased significantly by 49.0% from
RMB16.7 million for 2019 to RMB8.5 million for 2020. This decrease
was primarily due to the professional fees and other expenses
relating to the transfer of listing from GEM to Main Board in 2019,
amounting to approximately RMB10.0 million, whereas in 2020, less
professional fees were incurred for certain investment projects.

Profit before tax

As a result of the above, our profit before tax decreased by 24.3%
from RMB33.3 million for 2019 to RMB25.2 million for 2020.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense decreased by 21.4% from RMB9.8 million
for 2019 to RMB7.7 million for 2020, generally consistent with the
decrease of our revenue and profit.

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

Our profit and total comprehensive income for the year decreased by
25.5% from RMB23.6 million for 2019 to RMB17.5 million for 2020.
Our net profit margin increased from 37.2% for 2019 to 45.1% for
2020, primarily due to the decrease in revenue in 2020 with lower
sales of columbarium units, partly offset by higher other income and
lower administrative expenses as there are professional fees and
other administrative expenses incurred in connection with the
application for the transfer of listing from GEM to Main Board in
2019.

Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2020
calculated based on the number of 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares
was RMBO0.018 (basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2019: RMBO0.024).

Cash Flow

Our cash and cash equivalents increased by RMB8.4 million to
RMB197.6 million as at 31 December 2020 from RMB189.3 million as
at 31 December 2019, principally attributable to the net cash inflow
of RMB9.0 million from our operating activities.
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Pledge of assets

There was no charge on the Group’s assets as at 31 December 2020
and 2019.

Inventories

Our inventories primarily consist of burial plots, columbarium units,
headstones and others. The related carrying amounts of the
cemetery assets attributable to the burial plots and columbarium
units are transferred to inventory upon the commencement of
development of cemetery assets into burial plots with the intention
of sale in the ordinary course of business. Headstones are recognised
as inventory when they are contracted for sale and set up in the
cemetery. Inventories are transferred to cost when the customer
obtains the control of the burial plot. Our inventories remained fairly
stable with a slight decrease from RMB19.3 million as at 31
December 2019 to RMB18.6 million as at 31 December 2020.

Prepayments and other receivables

Our prepayments and other receivables increased from RMBO.7
million as at 31 December 2019 to RMB9.3 million as at 31
December 2020, mainly due to the guaranteed deposit of RMB8.0
million for the JV Cemetery Project included in 2020.

Trade and other payables

Our trade and other payables decreased by 54.5% from RMB13.4
million as at 31 December 2019 to RMB6.1 million as at 31
December 2020, the decrease is mainly due to RMB6.0 million
payable was waived by the counter party.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities represent the obligations to transfer burial plots
and cemetery maintenance services in accordance with the revenue
recognition policy and the nature of the business.

As at 31 December 2020, current contract liabilities amounted to
RMB8.0 million (as at 31 December 2019: RMB7.7 million). The
current contract liabilities remains stable with a slight increase.

As at 31 December 2020, non-current contract liabilities amounted
to RMB63.2 million (as at 31 December 2019: RMB58.2 million). The
increase in non-current contract liabilities is mainly due to increase in
advances from customers during the current year.

Capital structure

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there was no change to
the capital structure of the Company.

& E R
MA20204F NM2019F12A31H » REB W E T M E
EEA o

FE
RFNTFETEREEN BREB - BN EA4 -
EMEERBEGNEREENHEREEENEER
BEABRERAEMTVEEEBFERBREF L
ERBAGE BERAEAEETRERRNRT
NERRTFE 17 EL T P HUS & M5 6 5 55
A » B FE#FIRE - EH2019F12A31
HMARY19.38 B LEMR L £2020F12A31H
MARE186EE T °

A5 5B K& CH Ath fE W RE

TET B R H A E W S IE 2019612 A31H B A
R¥0788 THE2020F12A31HN ARKI3H
BT  TZHM0R0FEBIEARESHEETLHA
EAEBEBZRES -

g5 KEMENKIE
KM E S REMEMNFKEH2019F12A318H
ARB13.48 B tR 2 54.5% 22020512 A31H H
ARBIEE T "TRITERHAREFHEAERE
NZBEBAREOEE T -

BHMARIE

EHNEERERBUEHERRRNEBRLEEER
R EEEEREOE -

20208 12 A3MAMRBANEEAARKSIEE
JL(2019F12A31H : ARBITEE L) KRB A
HEEEHEMEREE -

2020F 12 A3THMIERB AN EE A ARE3.2
AEL (20195128318 : ARMS82HET) ° 3F
RBAEHNEBEENEERAREFKIITFSAN
FRIBIE N

BARNER

B E2020F12A3MBIEFE - ARG MELRLEH
WERE -

2020 F - HEBME (FER)ARAR 19



Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE R wm M oA

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2020, we had bank balances and cash of
approximately RMB197.6 million (2019: RMB189.3 million). We have
financed our working capital, capital expenditures and other capital
requirements primarily through income generated from our
operations. In the future, we expect to fund our capital
expenditures, working capital and other capital requirements from
the Group's bank balances and cash, cash generated from our
operations and other borrowings.

Gearing ratio

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure on annual
basis. As part of this review, the Directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risk associated with each class of capital.
Based on the recommendations of the Directors of the Company,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through payment
of dividends, issue of new shares and repurchase of shares as well as
issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

As at 31 December 2020, the gearing ratio of the Group, being total
liabilities to total assets, was 32.9% (2019: 35.2%), which indicates
the Group's healthy liquidity position.

Employee remuneration and relations

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 57 employees
(2019: 59 employees). The Group provides employees with
competitive remuneration and benefits, and the remuneration policy
will be reviewed on a regular basis based on the performance and
contribution of the employees and the industry remuneration level. In
addition, the Group also provides various training courses to
enhance the employees’ skills and capabilities in all aspects.

Operating lease

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had minimum lease payments
receivable of approximately RMB0.2 million (2019: RMBO0.2 million).

Commitments

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had capital commitments in
respect of expenditure in cemetery assets and property, plant and
equipment of approximately RMBO0.2 million (2019: RMBO0.3 million).

Contingent liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2020 (2019: nil).
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Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposals

On 30 June 2020, Langfang Wantong Cemetery Co., Ltd. (B35 &
WAEARZAAF) (“Langfang Wantong”, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) won a bid for the JV Cemetery Project,
which involves the development of a cemetery in The Beijing Daxing
International Airport Economic Zone (db A B B0 BX #4315 G 22 48 75 &)
(Landfang Region) the vicinity of Zhanggengsheng Village, Baijiawu
Office, Jiuzhou Town, Guangyang District (EfZ @ A MEARBERE
BESRE A AT). On 6 July 2020, Langfang Wantong entered into a
joint venture agreement (“JV Agreement”) with Xinhangcheng, to set
up a joint venture company (“JV Company”) for the JV Cemetery
Project.

JV Company will be responsible for land resumption, construction
and operations and management of the new airport (Langfang area),
relocation and settlement zone, Beijing JV Cemetery Project. The
Company will continue to actively develop the JV Cemetery Project,
and a contract will be signed with the planning company.
Simultaneously, will further communicate with the district
government of the land demolition and acquisition issue.

Further details of the JV Cemetery Project were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2020 and 7 July
2020 and the circular of the Company dated 25 August 2020.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s business is principally denominated in Renminbi. As
certain bank deposits are denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
therefore, the Group is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk.
No currency hedging arrangement had been made by the Group
during the year. The Directors have positive attitude to regular
monitor the exposure to foreign exchange so as to reduce the
foreign exchange rate risk to minimal.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERBMSE

The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company is committed to establish and maintain good corporate
governance practices and procedures. For the year ended 31
December 2020, the Board has adopted its own code on corporate
governance practices which incorporate all the code provisions in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Directors will continue to
review its corporate governance practices in order to enhance its
corporate governance standard and ensure further standards be put
in place by reference to the recommended best practices whenever
suitable and appropriate.

This Corporate Governance Report is to outline the major principles
of the Company’s corporate governance. Shareholders are
encouraged to make their views known to the Group if they have
issues with the Company’s corporate governance and to directly raise
any matters of concern to the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”).

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
CG Code during the Year.

Board of Directors

Our Board currently consists of seven Directors, comprising one Non-
executive Director (“NED"), three Executive Directors (“EDs”) and
three Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). The powers
and duties of our Board include convening general meetings and
reporting our Board’s work at our Shareholders’ meetings,
determining our business and investment plans, preparing our annual
financial budgets and final reports, formulating proposals for profit
distributions as well as exercising other powers, functions and duties
as conferred by our Memorandum and Articles of Association. The
composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December 2020
and up to the date of this report was as follows:
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Name of Director Position

Exns B

Zhao Ying Non-executive Director and Chairman
i FMTEERTE

Li Xingying Executive Director

F FLzH WITES

Huang Guangming (resigned on 29 March 2021) Executive Director

& E A (R202143 8298 BFH () MITES

Wang Wei (appointed on 29 March 2021) Executive Director
(2021463298 B E) HWITES

Huang Peikun (appointed on 29 March 2021) Executive Director

E g1 (R20214F3 A29R B £ 1E) MITES

Cheung Ying Kwan Independent Non-executive Director
o JE 458 BYFRTES

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert Independent Non-executive Director
TokiE BIUIFRITES

Choi Hon Keung, Simon Independent Non-executive Director
2% o BYFRTES
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There is no relationship between the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer. The Directors do not have financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with each other. The
biographical details of the Directors and other senior management
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” on pages from 33 to 39 of this annual
report.

During the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs
with at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting and related financial management
expertise as required under the Listing Rules among the Directors.
The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all of the independent non-executive Directors and the Board is
of the view that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for overseeing the management, businesses,
strategic directions, financial performance and monitoring business
and performance. The Board provides high-level guidance and
effective oversight of the Management and holds regular meetings to
discuss the Group’s businesses and operations. All Directors carry out
their duties in good faith and in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, taking decisions objectively and acting in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those
involving conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the management team. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed by the Board to
ensure that they accommodate the needs of the Group. Executive
Directors and senior executives meet regularly to review the
performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole. The Board
also gives clear directions as to their powers of management
including circumstances where management should report back, and
will review the delegation arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.
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All Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
delivery of the Board functions.

Board Diversity

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy with
measurable objectives. A diverse Board will include and make good
use of differences in the skills, industry knowledge and experience,
education, race, age, gender, background and other qualities of
directors. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a general dividend policy that aims to
provide the shareholders of the Company out of the Group’s profit
attributable to shareholders in any financial year. In proposing any
dividend payout, the Board shall take into account, inter alia, the
following factors: (i) the actual and expected financial results of the
Group; (ii) economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group; (iii) the Group’s business strategies,
including future cash commitments and investment needs to sustain
the long-term growth aspect of the business; (iv) the current and
future operations, liquidity position and capital requirements of the
Group; and any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance with
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquires of
the Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with
the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during
the period from the date of listing up to the date of this report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles and duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer are carried out by different individuals. The role of Chairman
is held by Ms. Zhao Ying, the role of Chief Executive Officer is
temporarily vacant and the equivalent duties is held by the deputy
Chief Executive Officer by Ms. Li Xingying. The Chairman provides
leadership for the Board and ensures its effectiveness in all aspects.
The Chief Executive Officer has the delegated power to monitor the
daily operation and management of the Company. The Board will
keep reviewing the current structure of the Board and the need of
appointment of a suitable candidate to perform the role of
Chairman.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed
three INEDs representing more than one-third of the Board and at
least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The functions of INEDs are primarily to bring an independent
judgement on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standards of conducts at board
meetings.

Confirmation of Independence

Each of INEDs has made an annual confirmation of independence by
reference to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
considers that all Independent Non-executive Directors were
independent during the Year.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the EDs is engaged on a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years. The Company has also issued a
letter of appointment for a term of three years to the NED and each
of the INEDs.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are governed by the Articles of Association. The
Company has established a Nomination Committee which is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring the
appointment and succession planning of the Directors and assessing
the independence of the INEDs.

The Articles of Association provides that any Director so appointed to
fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting. Any Director so appointed as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual
general meeting (“AGM") of the Company after his appointment
and be eligible for re-election at such meeting. Any Director so
appointed by the Board shall not be taken into account in
determining the Directors or the number of Directors who are to
retire by rotation at an annual general meeting.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of Directors is
not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors. The
Directors to retire in each year shall be those who have been in
office longest since their last re-election or appointment but, as
between persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on
the same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot.
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Continuous Professional Development for
Directors

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to ensure
that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements. During the year ended December
31, 2020, all Directors, including Ms. Zhao Ying, Ms. Li Xingying,
Mr. Huang Guangming, Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan, Dr. Wong Wing
Kuen, Albert, Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon had studied the reading
materials relevant to corporate governance and other regulatory
requirements in order to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly for reviewing and approving the financial
and operating performance, and considering and approving the
overall strategies and policies of the Company. Additional meetings
are held when significant events or important issues are required to
be discussed and resolved.

The following table indicates the number of Board, committee and
general meetings during the financial year and the number of
attendance by each of the Directors:
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Board Committees

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All the Board committees should report to the Board on their
decisions or recommendations made.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and code provision C.3.3 of the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing rules. The Audit Committee
consists of three members, namely Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert, Mr.
Cheung Ying Kwan and Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon. The chairman
of the Audit Committee is Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to assist our Board by providing
an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management system of our Group,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
removal of external auditors, reviewing our financial information and
disclosures, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review our
policies and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned
by the Board.

During 2020, the Audit Committee held three meetings to review
and discuss the relevant interim and annual financial statements,
results announcements and reports of the Group.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and code provision B.1.2 of the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely Dr.
Wong Wing Kuen, Albert, Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan and Ms. Zhao
Ying. The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Dr. Wong
Wing Kuen, Albert. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee include (but without limitation): (i) making
recommendations to the Directors regarding our policy and structure
for the remuneration of all our Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing the remuneration policies; (ii) making recommendations
to our Board on the remuneration packages of our Directors and
senior management; and (iii) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to our Board's
corporate goals and objectives.
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The Company has adopted the model to delegate the remuneration
committee to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management.

During 2020, the Remuneration Committee meet one time to review
the remuneration policies and remuneration packages of the
Directors.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with code provision A.5.2
of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Ms. Zhao Ying, Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan and Mr. Choi Hon
Keung, Simon. The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Ms.
Zhao Ying. The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to
make recommendations to our Board on appointment of members of
our Board. During 2020, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
concluded that the members of the Board have possessed the
expertise and independence to carry out the Board’s functions and
responsibilities.

Pursuant to the terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee
(amended and restated with effect from 16 December 2020), the
Nomination Committee shall review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and professional
experience, gender, age, cultural and educational background) of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy. Based on such factors, the Nomination Committee shall also
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial
Statements

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards.

The Board is committed to providing a balanced, clear and
comprehensive assessment of quarterly, interim and annual reports,
price-sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor on

the financial statements of the Group are set out in the section of
“Independent Auditor’'s Report” in this Annual Report.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies,
practices on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
policies and practices in compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct applicable to employees and the Directors, and reviewing
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report contained in the Company’s annual
reports.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor, in respect of audit
services for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to
RMB1,050,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the fees paid/payable for
the services provided by the Company's auditor are set out as
follows:

Services rendered
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Fees paid/payable
e ENER

Statutory audit services
EEEBZRSG

Non-audit services

FEZRS

RMB1,050,000
A KR #1,050,0007T

RMB560,000
A K #560,0007T

Remuneration of Senior Management

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management is set out by band as follows:
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board recognises the overall responsibility for the establishment,
maintenance, and review of the risk management and internal
control system and an effective risk management and internal
control system enhances the Group’s ability in achieving business
objectives, safeguarding assets, complying with applicable laws and
regulations and contributes to the effectiveness and efficiency of its
operations. The senior management reviews and evaluates the
control process and monitors any risk factors on a regular basis and
reports to the Board and the Audit Committee on any findings and
measures to address the variances and identified risks.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group’s risk management and internal control procedures
include a comprehensive budgeting, information reporting and
performance monitoring system. The Audit Committee reviews the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function and the Group's
risk management and internal control system annually, covering all
key control, including financial, operational and compliance. The
result of review will be reported to the Board and some measures
would be proposed if there is any area for improvement. During the
Year, the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and considered them
effective and adequate.

Company Secretary

Mr. Tang Chun Man Adam resigned as the company secretary of the
Company on 29 March 2021. On the same day, Ms. Li Ming Wai
(“Ms. Li") was appointed as the company secretary of the Company.
The biographical details of Ms. Li are set out under the section
headed “Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management”.

Shareholders’ Right

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders of the Company and the
Board. An AGM of the Company shall be held in each year and at
the place as may be determined by the Board.
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Right to Convene EGM and putting forward proposals at
general meetings

Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM"). EGM shall be convened on
the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

EGM shall be called by at least 14 days’ notice in writing. The
written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, be
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong marked with the attention of the
company secretary, and such may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists.

Enquires to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquires to the Board in writing to
the principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company.

Enquiry Contact:
By email:
By post:

admin@Ifwty.com

Unit 3508, 35th Floor,

West Tower,

Shun Tak Centre,

168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong

Attention: Public Relationship
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Investors Relations

The Company has maintained a continuing dialogue with the
Company’s shareholders and investors through various channels,
including, among others, the Company’s annual, interim and
quarterly reports, notices, announcements and circulars and the
Company’s website at www.chinawty.com. The Company also holds
press conferences from time to time at which the Executive Directors
and senior management of the Group are available to answer
questions regarding the Group’s business and performance.

Inside Information

The Company regulates the handling and propagation of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission
and as indicated in the corporate responsibility policy and various
affiliate proceedings to ensure inside information remains
confidential until the disclosure of such information is appropriately
approved, and the propagation of such information is efficiently and
consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors and
employees about the due compliance with all policies regarding the
inside information with the latest regulatory updates.

Amendments to the Articles of Association
of the Company

In view of the transfer of listing of the issued shares of the
Company from GEM of the Stock Exchange to the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 17 December 2019, a special resolution was
proposed at the annual general meeting in 2020 for the
shareholders of the Company to consider, and if through fit,
approve the proposed amendment(s) to the Articles of Association of
the Company. The resolution was duly passed by the shareholders of
the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company
convened on 22 June 2020.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Board of Directors

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) consists of seven Directors,
comprising one non-executive Director, three executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors.

ZHAO Ying (H#)
Non-executive Director and Chairman

Ms. ZHAO Ying (# %, “Ms. Zhao"), aged 50, joined the Group in
January 2017 and was further designated as a non-executive
Director in March 2017. Ms. Zhao has been serving as a director of
Wan Tong (HK) Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, since January 2017. Ms. Zhao has been serving as a
director of Langfang City Property Development Co., Ltd. (B %5 1 #
@ E i ER # AR AF)) since February 2008 and a non-executive
director of China VAST Industrial Urban Development Company
Limited (F R AR EXMEERBR A E], a company listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code 6166) since February 2014.

LI Xingying (Z i 58)
Executive Director, and Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Ms. LI Xingying (ZE58, “Ms. Li"), aged 42, was appointed as an
executive Director in March 2017. Ms. Li has 17 years of experience
in burial services industry. Ms. Li joined the Group in November
2007. She has been serving as the legal representative and director
of Langfang City Wantong Funeral Services Co., Ltd. (BE3h T & WA
ZERB BB A A, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Wangtongyuan Investment since March 2017. She also has been
serving as an executive director of Langfang Wantong since May
2015. Before joining the Group, she served as a clerk and cashier of
Wan Tong Yuan from March 1999 to September 2000 and a
salesperson in Langfang City Property Development Co., Ltd. (EB3H T
& E i E M AR A A from September 2000 to March 2003.
From March 2003 to October 2005, Ms. Li served as the marketing
manager of Wan Tong Yuan, being responsible for the overall
management of the customers’ services center and business
administration thereof. Ms. Li served as the general manager of Wan
Tong Yuan from October 2005 to November 2007 and the executive
general manager of Langfang Wantong from November 2007 to May
2015. Ms. Li has been the sole executive director, legal
representative and general manager of Langfang Wantong since May
2015.

In November 2016, Ms. Li took the 35th Training Class of Modern
Cemetery in China and President Workshop (F=+RHEZ2BEIRA R
ERREYIIBAE TSI, which was organized by China Funeral
Association (R Bl & ZE 15 ).
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HUANG Guangming (& & BA)
Executive Director

Mr. HUANG Guangming (= &83, “Mr. Huang”), aged 46, was
appointed as an executive Director in March 2017. Mr. Huang has
more than seven years of experience in burial services industry. Mr.
Huang rejoined the Group as a deputy general manager of Langfang
Wantong in September 2013. Mr. Huang served as the human
resources manager of Langfang City Property Development Co., Ltd.
(B mEREMERZEERAQA) from June 2004 to November
2007, the deputy general manager of Langfang Wantong from
November 2007 to June 2010 and the general manger of Chengde
Yonglun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (F{E k@ E b ERMEH
[R 2 &]) from June 2010 to September 2013. From time to time, Mr.
Huang supervised the operation of the purchasing center of
Langfang City Property Development Co., Ltd. (BB Y535 [& = th E B9
B R A 7)) during September 2013 and March 2017, which was a
part-time position only.

Mr. Huang received associate (K Z) level education in marketing
from Hebei University of Science and Technology (it %l A E)
and graduated from the same university in July 2001. Mr. Huang
resigned as the executive Director of the Company on 29 March
2021.

WANG Wei (£ #)
Executive Director

Ms. WANG Wei (E£#%, “Ms. Wang”), aged 28, was appointed as an
executive Director in March 2021. Ms. Wang is an executive Director
of China VAST Industrial Urban Development Company Limited (1 B
REEXMEZRRBERAAF, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange with stock code 6166) since November 2017. Ms. Wang is
the daughter of Ms. Zhao Ying, the chairman of the Group, a non-
executive Director and a controlling Shareholder. Ms. Wang obtained
a bachelor’s degree in finance from Shanghai University of Finance
and Economics in June 2013, and has extensive experience in
corporate finance and mergers and acquisitions.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
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HUANG Peikun (= 55 1)
Executive Director

Mr. HUANG Peikun (E1%3#, “Mr. Huang”), aged 58, was appointed
as an executive Director and chief financial officer of the Company
in March 2021. Mr. Huang is an executive director of China VAST
Industrial Urban Development Company Limited (7 B 72 Z £ ¥ T #8
R AR AR, a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code 6166) since March 2014. Mr. Huang has 16 vyears of
experience in business management. He received his master’s degree
in Management Science and Engineering (“E 2RI £ 8E T ") from
Zhejiang University (“3#7)T X&), located in the PRC, in December
1999 and his Executive Master of Business Administration degree
from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology (" &#& %t
R KE"), in June 2012. He was qualified as a senior accountant
("® % & st ") of the Department of Personnel Affairs of
Guangdong Province (“E®R & AEEE") in February 2000. Mr. Huang
was an executive director of China Merchants Land Limited (00978.
HK, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange) from 2
June 2012 to 8 August 2013.

CHEUNG Ying Kwan (5 & 1)
Independent non-executive Director

Mr. CHEUNG Ying Kwan (5K f&#, “Mr. Cheung”), aged 61, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director in September
2017. Mr. Cheung has more than 21 years of experience in finance
and accounting. Mr. Cheung has been the company secretary of
China Mental Resources Utilization Limited (FF B & & &R FI H B R
‘A 7], a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code
1636) since February 2014. Mr. Cheung served as the financial
controller of Gushan Environmental Energy Limited (2R R8ERAE
fR 7~ A]) from March 2006 to August 2013, the qualified accountant
and company secretary of Goldigit Atom-tech Holdings Limited (&2
B FREFIERAER AR (currently known as Jinchuan Group
International Resources Co. Ltd. (£JIIEBBFEERERAF]), a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 2362) from
April 2001 to March 2006, an independent non-executive director of
Beijing Chunlizhengda Medical Instruments Co., Ltd. (1t R &L IE
ERBEEMAM BR A A, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
with stock code 1858) from March 2015 to March 2018, an
independent non-executive director of ZACD Group Ltd (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 8313) from December
2017 to January 2019 and an independent non-executive director of
Gold-Finance Holdings Limited (& #ZR AR A7), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange with stock code 1462) from February 2016 to
May 2019. Mr. Cheung has been an independent non-executive
director of Tian Shan Development (Holding) Limited (X L2 & (2
f&) B R A T], a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code 2118) since June 2010.
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Mr. Cheung has been a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since November 2000 and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since April 1995. Mr. Cheung obtained a diploma in
fabric manufacturing from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
September 1981.

WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (E 7k ##)
Independent non-executive Director

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (£k#, “Dr. Wong”), aged 69, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of
audit committee and the chairman of remuneration committee in
September 2017. Dr. Wong has approximately 25 vyears of
experience in accounting. Dr. Wong has a broad range of experience
serving as an independent non-executive director of various listed
companies, including China VAST Industrial Urban Development
Company Limited (FEI R FREXEMHEEEBR AR, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange with stock code 6166) since August 2014,
APAC Resources Limited (2 K& JRB R A A, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange with stock code 1104) since July 2004, Solargiga
Energy Holdings Limited (F% %82 /R =R B R A 7, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange with stock code 757) since January 2008,
China Merchants Land Limited (B R EHER AR, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 978) since June 2012,
Capital Finance Holdings Limited (B # & @M ZERBR A 7, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 8239) since
January 2018, China Medial & HealthCare Group Limited (7 Bl & &
H4& BB A F], a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code 383) since December 2018, and Dexin China Holdings
Company Limited (25 R BIZE AR B R 2 7, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code 2019) since January 2019. He
served as a principal consultant of KND & Co. CPA Limited (T &E&
STEDE AT AR A E]) from April 1994 to December 2017. Dr. Wong
has been appointed as a principal consultant of KND Associates CPA
Limited, Hong Kong (72 A& 51 B 17 /B fR 2 &) since January 2018.

Dr. Wong received a degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Business
Administration from the Bulacan State University, Republic of the
Philippines in December 2010. Dr. Wong is a member of the
following institutions, including: a fellow member of The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators; a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries; a fellow member of
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong; a member of the Hong Kong
Securities Institute; a fellow member of Association of International
Accountants; a fellow member of Society of Registered Financial
Planners; a member of The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators; an
associate member of The Chartered Institute of Bankers in Scotland,;
and a full member of Macau Society of Certified Practicing
Accountants.
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Notwithstanding Dr. Wong’s engagement as an independent non-
executive director of another seven companies listed on the Stock
Exchange, Dr. Wong confirmed that he would devote sufficient time
to act as the independent non-executive Director based on the
following:

o Dr. Wong is neither a full time member of the above-named
companies nor involved in the day-to-day operations or
management of such companies. As such, he has no executive
and management responsibility therein;

o Dr. Wong is primarily required to attend relevant board
meetings, committee meetings and shareholders’ meetings of
the above-named listed companies. He has maintained a high
attendance rate for board meetings, committee meetings and
shareholders’ meetings for such listed companies during the
respective latest financial periods since his appointment dates;

o Dr. Wong's role as a principal consultant of KND Associates CPA
Limited is on a part-time basis and he does not involve in the
daily management of KND Associates CPA Limited;

o with his background and experience, Dr. Wong is fully aware
of the responsibilities and expected time involvements for
independent non-executive director. He has not found
difficulties in devoting to and managing his time with
numerous companies and he is confident that with his
experience in being responsible for several roles, he will be
able to discharge his duties to the Company;

o none of the above-named listed companies that he has
directorship with has questioned or complained about his time
devoted to such companies; and

o Dr. Wong's role in the Group is non-executive in nature and he
will not be involved in the daily management of the Group's
business, thus his engagement as the independent non-
executive Director will not require his full-time participation.

Based on the foregoing, the Directors do not have reasons to believe
that the various positions currently held by Dr. Wong will result in
Dr. Wong not having sufficient time to act as the independent non-
executive Director or not properly discharging his fiduciary duties as
a director of the Company.
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CHOI Hon Keung, Simon (%% 58)
Independent non-executive Director

Mr. CHOI Hon Keung, Simon (3%5)%£3%, “Mr. Choi”), aged 60, was
appointed as an independent non-executive director in September
2017. Mr. Choi has more than seven years of experience in
corporate governance. Mr. Choi served as an independent non-
executive director of Kenford Group Holdings Limited (1@ % E4% /%
APBRAF], a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code
464) from August 2011 to September 2017, and an independent
non-executive director of Boyaa Interactive International Limited (&
WEFHHE AR A A, a company listed on the Stock Exchange with
stock code 434) since October 2013.

Mr. Choi obtained a bachelor's degree in laws from Peking
University (JE7J K &) in 1991 and a master's degree in laws from
The University of London in 1992. Mr. Choi received his Common
Professional Examination Certificate in Laws and Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong Kong in June 1994
and September 1995, respectively. Mr. Choi was admitted as a
solicitor in Hong Kong and the UK in November 1997 and June
1998, respectively.

Senior Management

Our senior management is
management of our business.

responsible for the day-to-day

LIU Fengxue (2B £)

Mr. LIU Fengxue (ZIBlZ, "Mr. Liu"), aged 39, joined the Group in
November 2007. Mr. Liu is currently the vice president of general
administration of the Company and a deputy general manager of
Langfang Wantong, being responsible for the daily operation and
general management of the Group. Mr. Liu has more than 16 years
of experience in logistical and corporate support. After joining the
Group, Mr. Liu served as the head of security in Langfang Wantong
from November 2007 to June 2016, and he was promoted as the
head of logistical support department and deputy general manager
of Langfang Wantong in July 2010 and June 2016, respectively. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Liu served as the head of security team of
Lanshuiwan Property Management (E57K&#¥)%) of Langfang City
Hengtai Services Co., Ltd. (BB M E R R B B R A7) from
November 2002 to November 2007.
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CHU Yunli (&8 Z F)

Mr. CHU Yunli (#8Z %], “Mr. Chu”), aged 49, joined the Group in
November 2007. Mr. Chu is currently the financial controller of the
Company, being responsible for the overall management of financial
reporting and cost management of the Group. Mr. Chu has been the
financial controller at Langfang Wantong since he joined the Group.
Mr. Chu has ten years of experience in corporate finance.

Mr. Chu attended correspondence courses (FK#%) and received his
associate degree (K¥) in accounting from Beijing Institute of
Business (3t 5L £ %) (currently known as Beijing Technology and
Business University (3t /= T3 A E)) in July 1997.

GAO Ping (= )

Ms. GAO Ping (=3, “Ms. Gao”), aged 39, joined the Group in
November 2007 and has more than 16 years of experience in
customer services and marketing. Ms. Gao is currently the vice
president of marketing of the Company and has been the marketing
manager of Langfang Wantong since its establishment, being
responsible for the overall management of the marketing department
of the Group. She has also been a supervisor of Wangtongyuan
Investment since March 2017, being responsible for monitoring and
overseeing the company’s financial matters and supervising the
conduct of the board of directors and senior management. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Gao served as the sales executive of Wan
Tong Yuan from October 2005 to November 2007 and the
marketing manager of Langfang Economic and Technological
Development Area Yongsheng Real Estates Development Co., Ltd.
(B FA#ERXAFEMEREARAA) from November 2003 to
October 2005.

Ms. Gao attended correspondence courses (EK#) and obtained her
associate degree (KXZ) in Physical Education from Hebei Institute of
Physical Education (A1t 88 & £Fx) in July 2003.

LI Ming Wai (%)

Ms. LI Ming Wai (282, "Ms. Li"), aged 35, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company in March 2021, being
responsible for the overall administrative management of the Group
and advising the Board on corporate governance matters Ms. Li holds
a Master of Science in Professional Accounting and Corporate
Governance from the City University of Hong Kong and is an
associate of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). She has over 5
years of experience in listed company secretarial practice.
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The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020.

Principal Activities and Analysis of
Operations

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group was
principally engaged in the sale of burial plots and columbarium
units, provision of other burial-related services and provision of
cemetery maintenance services.

Business Review and Performance

A fair review of the Group’s business, an indication of likely future
development in the Group's business, an analysis using financial key
indicators as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) can be found in the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” section, which forms part of this Directors’ Report of
this annual report.

Results

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 69 of this annual report.

Dividends

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: nil). The Company is not
aware of any arrangements under which a shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.

Financial Summary

The summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group is set out on page 4 of this annual report.

Key Risks and Uncertainties Facing by the
Group

The followings are part of the key risks and uncertainties identified
by the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition
to those shown below which are not known to the Group or which
may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the
future.

The Group operate one cemetery in Langfang and any significant
downturn of the regional economy or changes in local regulatory
regime or burial practices could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. The
management regularly review and adapt our services to cater to the
customs and preferences of the local residents in order to retain
existing customers and to attract prospective customers.
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The death care industry in China, subject to the strict requirement of
relevant regulations imposed by the government, is a highly
regulated industry. There are strict restrictions on licenses and land
supply which pose risks and uncertainties on the Group’s business
expansion. The Group have adopted internal guidelines to ensure
that the sale of burial plots to living customers satisfy these
conditions as required by the relevant laws.

There are uncertainties associated with the expansion of our
business. The successful implementation of our expansion strategies
may be influenced by various factors such as our ability to identify
suitable business opportunities or expansion plans on our cemetery,
to obtain government and other third-party consents, permits and
licenses that are required to operate our business. The expansion of
our burial services is also dependent on customer satisfaction and
our marketing efforts. In order to maintain growth in our business,
it may be necessary for the Group to implement marketing initiatives
to create public awareness and acceptance of our services.

Key Relationships with Employees,
Customers and Suppliers

The Group recognises that employees are one of the significant
assets of the Group. The Group aims to continue establishing a
caring environment to employees and emphasise the personal
development of its employees. The Group maintains a good
relationship with our customers and suppliers. The Group aims to
continue providing quality products and services to our customers
and establishing co-operation strategy with our suppliers.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group's
subsidiaries are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong
and China. The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Group's subsidiaries in China while the Group also has a corporate
and administrative office in Hong Kong. Our establishments and
operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands, China
and Hong Kong. During the year under review, the Company was
not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of
the Company’s Listed Securities

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have purchased, sold or
redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2020.
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Tax Relief and Exemption

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s listed
securities.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Investment Properties

The Group's Investment properties represented the land parcel of
Langfang City Funeral Parlour, which is leased to a third party from
January 2015 to December 2020. Details of the movements in
investment properties of the Group are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital

Movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year
under review and as at 31 December 2020 are set out in note 24 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Share Premium and Reserves

Movements in the share premium and reserves of the Group during
the year under review are set out on page 72 in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

The Company do not have any distributable reserves as at 31
December 2020 (2019: RMB Nil).

Charitable Donations

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group did not make
any charitable donations (2019: RMB881,000).

Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no single customer
accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue (2019: 39.3%).
Revenue from the Group’s five largest customers did not accounted
for 30% or more of the Group’s total revenue (2019: 41.4%).
Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 85.8% (2019: 84.8%) of the total purchases for the
Year and purchases from the single largest supplier 53.5% (2019:
61.2%) of the Group’s total purchases.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, none of the Directors,
their close associates, nor any of the Shareholders of the Company
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the five
largest customers and suppliers of the Group.

Remuneration Policy and Retirement Benefits
of the Group

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 57 employees
(31 December 2019: 59 employees). The Group provides employees
with competitive remuneration and benefits, and the remuneration
policy will be reviewed on a regular basis based on the performance
and contribution of the employees and the industry remuneration
level. In addition, the Group also provides various training courses to
enhance the employees’ skills and capabilities in all aspects. Details
of the Group’s the retirement benefit plans are set out in note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2020 and up to the date of this report were:
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Zhao Ying Non-executive Director and Chairman
iR FRITESRER

Li Xingying Executive Director

FHE MITES

Huang Guangming (resigned on 29 March 2021)
B R (7202138298 B 1)

Wang Wei (appointed on 29 March 2021)
T (R20214F3 8298 £ 1)

Huang Peikun (appointed on 29 March 2021)
EIF (R2021F3 A29R EZ 1)

Cheung Ying Kwan
o FE 3

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert
B

Choi Hon Keung, Simon

iz

Executive Director

WITES

Executive Director

WITES

Executive Director

WITES

Independent Non-executive Director

BURITES

Independent Non-executive Director

BUFRITES

Independent Non-executive Director

BURITES
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Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 33 to 39 of this annual report.

All Directors are appointed for a specific term of three years which
may be extended as each and the Company may agree, subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
("AGM") in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company. Article 108 of the articles of association of the Company
provides that at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.

Change of Information of Directors

Below are changes of directors’ information required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules from the Listing Date to the date of
this annual report:

On 12 September 2017, Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon (£%%3%)
resigned as an independent non-executive director of Kenford Group
Holdings Limited (218 & B =R B R 2 7)) (@ company listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code 0464).

On 1 January 2018, 6 December 2018 and 11 January 2019, Dr.
Wong Wing Kuen, Albert (£ 5k#) was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Capital Finance Holdings Limited (& #8<& &t
T B BR A F]) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code 8329), China Medical & HealthCare Group Limited (% B % /&
ML AR A TF) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code 383) and Dexin China Holdings Company Limited ({2135 Bl &
R B BR A A]) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code 2019) respectively.

On 16 March 2018, 31 January 2019 and 15 May 2019, Mr.
Cheung Ying Kwan (5K & 3#) has resigned as the independent non-
executive director of Beijing Chunlizhengda Medical Instruments Co.,
Ltd. QR & EEEERMR M AR QA (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange with stock code 1858), ZACD Group Ltd (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 8313) and
Gold-Finance Holdings Limited (& #ZERBRAF]), (@ company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 1462).
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Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with any member of the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one vyear
without the payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements and Contracts

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director or an entity
connected with him/her or Controlling Shareholder of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the financial year or at any time during the financial year
under review.

Directors’ Rights to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year under
review, was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement that would enable the Directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18,
were granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities
of the Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any
such right.
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Directors’ and Chief executive’s Interests in
Shares

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of each
of the Directors and chief executive in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or which were required to be recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, were as follows:

EERBSTBRAERRO 2ER

R2020F12A31B  EERERTTHRAEHER
RABREFMABE EZE (EERFHLBAEKH
(IBHRBEE]) BEXVI) 2R H - HERG &
EREFFHREEAREESFRBEBRONEXVIHEIR
SAMHMEARARAI BB R 2w AR (BIER
BEE LB EEDIB RGOS S ESRERE
EZEEmIKE) HREES KHE KA 5352
BBLHRARRFEZECMzERZ R AR
HARFE LM AR SRI0BMNE AR A LB 2
ERERABWT

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interests securities held shareholding
EEMR fEEME FEESHEE BREHENEI L
Ms. Zhao Ying (Note 2) Founder of a discretionary trust who can influence 700,000,000 (L) 70%
how the trustee exercises its discretion (Note 1) (Note 3)
A8 2 1 (M 5E2) RETEZA AIREZTEATER 700,000,000 (L) 70%
HiE#E 2 7R (B 5E1) (FF5E3)

Notes: M 3E

(1) The letter “L” denotes long position of the Shares of the Company.

(2) Ms. Zhao Ying is the chairman and non-executive Director of the
Company. She is the settlor, sole member of The Hope Trust's
protective committee and a beneficiary of The Hope Trust, which is a
discretionary trust and TMF (Cayman) Ltd. is the trustee of The Hope
Trust. TMF (Cayman) Ltd. wholly owns the entire share capital of Lily
Charm Holding Limited. Lily Charm Holding Limited wholly owns the
entire issued share capital of Tai Shing International Investment
Company Limited. Therefore, Ms. Zhao Ying is deemed to be
interested in the 700,000,000 Shares directly held by Tai Shing
International Investment Company Limited.

(3) The percentage is calculated on the basis of 1,000,000,000 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2020.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which would have to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required to be recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2020, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons/entities (not being Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to the
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, or who is,
directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value
of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any other
members of the Group.
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Approximate

Number of percentage of

securities held shareholding

Name of Shareholder Nature of interests (Note 1) (Note 5)

HRE

FERESHE BHABED T

BREE LB ERftE (K &ET) (Bff 2£5)

Tai Shing International Beneficial owner (Note 2) 700,000,000 (L) 70%
Investment Company

Limited

ZRERREAR QA EmEA A (MH5E2) 700,000,000 (L) 70%

Lily Charm Holding Limited Interest in a controlled Corporation (Notes 2, 3) 700,000,000 (L) 70%

Lily Charm Holding Limited — S35 EE = (32 - 3) 700,000,000 (L) 70%

TMF (Cayman) Ltd. Trustee (Notes 2, 3, 4) 700,000,000 (L) 70%

TMF (Cayman) Ltd. XA (F5E2 -3+ 4) 700,000,000 (L) 70%
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Notes:

(1) The letter “L" denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

(2) Tai Shing International Investment Company Limited directly holds
700,000,000 Shares.

(3) Lily Charm Holding Limited holds the entire of issued share capital of
Tai Shing International Investment Company Limited, thus Lily Charm
Holding Limited is deemed to be interested in the 700,000,000 Shares.

(4) TMF (Cayman) Ltd. is on the trusts of The Hope Trust, which is a
discretionary trust set up by Ms. Zhao Ying, the chairman and non-
executive Director of the Company. TMF (Cayman) Ltd. directly holds
the entire issued share capital of Lily Charm Holding Limited.
Therefore, TMF is deemed to be interested in 700,000,000 Shares.

(5) The percentage is calculated on the basis of 1,000,000,000 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Directors were
not aware of any other persons, except disclosed below under
“Other persons’ interests and short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company” other than the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debenture of the Company and its associated corporations which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section
336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the
Company or any other members of the Group.
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Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares
and Underlying Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2020, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons/entities (not being Directors or chief executive or
substantial shareholders of the Company) had, or were deemed to
have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO:

H A A LT RAR BN R AERE D < # a8
S879-)

20201278310 SREEMM A TALEE
(ARFAEEFXRRTRABREBZRRBFINR
B SBERN TR RERIEREEBREES
K BB GBI S XV ER 552 30 B 69 6 SR AN A B 3
BoESmZOAR  HAREBEF RHIRIGPIE3361F
ARBRARAFEZBLMz EEHAR

Number of Percentage of

Shares held shareholding

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interests (Note 1) (Note 3)

FEROHE FREADL

BREREE BB B, ERtE (P &E1) (B £3)

Fairich Trading Limited Beneficial owner 87,650,000 (L) 8.8%

REBZHAERAA ERERA 87,650,000 (L) 8.8%

Ms. Xing Junying Interest in a controlled corporation 87,650,000 (L) 8.8%

(Note 2)

MERZ LT EErEER (HE2) 87,650,000 (L) 8.8%

Notes: B 5F

(1) The letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.
() Fairich Trading Limited is directly wholly owned by Ms. Xing Junying.

(3) The percentage is calculated on the basis of 1,000,000,000 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation other than the
Directors, the chief executive and substantial shareholders of the
Company who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debenture of the
Company and its associated corporations which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Competing Interests

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the
Directors nor the Controlling Shareholder nor any of their respective
close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that compete or may
compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interest which any such person has or may have with the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

() HEXFEILIRFZER/ALRBROPEEAR -
2) REEFERQAFAAMERZLIERZEHRS -
El

o b % R2020912A31H B OB 17 2
1,000,000,0000% % 15 5+ & -

3)

B XA EE SN - 2020128310 - EEHT
MBEBETMEMALTH AR (RARBEE - &517T
BAEBREZERRRIN RAA T R EMBEE B R
mAERDREREFREEIRIEEBRER
5 R B E GBI EXVERE2 23D BIE X AR AR T
BRE2ERSOKE  JRBESR KBS K %336
BAEDERARGEEZECMZERIKE -

i E MR =S

BEEHTME BHE20206128318ILFEE - AR
REERERBRREURFEESANERHEA(TE
ER TR EEEAEBERFEFHALERF
MEMEBIREZSESPER = MERRE
SEARAEEEMAEEGR-
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The Deed of Non-Competition

The INEDs and the rest of the Board reviewed the confirmation
provided by each of the Controlling Shareholders and confirmed that
they have reviewed the compliance with the terms of the Deed of
Non-competition dated 7 September 2017 and 5 December 2019 by
the Controlling Shareholders and the enforcement of the
undertakings (the “Undertakings”) given by the Controlling
Shareholders under the Deed of Non-competition and are satisfied
that all of the Undertakings were complied with by the Controlling
Shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Connected Transactions and Related Party
Transactions

Details of related party transactions of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of these related party transactions were
subject to the disclosure requirements of connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Period.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company or the laws of Cayman Islands, the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, and there is no
restriction against such rights which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors are entitled to
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of their duty in their respective offices, provided
that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty which may attach to such Director. The
Company has purchased and maintained Directors’ liability insurance
during the year under review, which provides appropriate coverage
for the Directors.

Equity-Linked Agreement

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Environment Policy

The Company is committed to support environmental sustainability.
The Company encourages environmental protection and adheres to
the principle of recycling and reducing, including encouraging
double-sided printing and copying, setting up recycling bins,
promoting using recycled paper and reducing energy consumption by
switching off idle lightings and electrical appliance. The Company
will review its environmental practices from time to time and will
consider implementing further eco-friendly measures in the operation
of the Group’s businesses. The Company will publish its
environmental, social and governance report on an annual basis in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Sufficient Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float of not
less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under the
Listing Rules.

Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering

Since the date of Listing and up to 31 December 2020, part of the
net proceeds has been applied to use according to the Prospectus.
The amount of unused net proceeds as at 1 January 2020 and 31
December 2020 were approximately RMB25.7 million and RMB19.8
million respectively.

Reasons for Deviation from the Original
Business Strategies

Strengthening the market position in Langfang

Since the Listing, the Group has been updating and improving its
cemetery facilities. Through developing new sectioned burial areas,
for example, Pine Garden and areas for artistic burial plots, and
acquiring and updating additional machineries, such as waste
incinerators, lawn movers and sprinkler trucks, the Group seeks to
improve the overall scenery of the cemetery as well as the efficiency
of the operation performance so as to further consolidate its market
position in Langfang.

The major difference of the use of proceeds falls on two aspects,
being (i) expanding the business scope of the Group to provide
funeral service, and (ii) tapping further into the burial market in the
Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis and pursuing strategic alliance and acquisition
opportunities.

BRI B

ARBBAXFREVHENE - ARRHBRRE
BRI RERR - BEsEEmES N REL -
wRIYMMKAE EEEABERIEBBAMHER
ARERERBEERER - ARRH RS
HRREM LHEEERAEEEBLETER
FEZRERER -ARAHRELETRAUNZRE
BERBHHERRE HERERAMSE -

RADRERE
REAAATAMREZEHRBEFFLN &
EAWEEH AR AR LT RAER TR
5% ARRABEITRG 2 RADRHKE -

PRBEMBRERAE
FIRBEMBSRERSZA LT H BB KEZE2020
F12A318 BB RBFECEANRBRER
Fir it &9 F % - 7220201 3 1H &2020F12A31H
ZAEAMBREFESNOBARKZIEE
TREARKI98HETT -

mEk Rt BRI R E

2 [B 70 R 7 5 T 45 3 (i1

BRETNUR AEERARNEEEZRRE
FREENEE R R (PR E & E i) &R
ERARELHB(PIMEDIE BERRE
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SRR R BT IS -
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Expanding the business scope of the Group to provide
funeral services

As stated in the previous annual reports, the Group has been
actively promoting its funeral services. Although the Group had
shortlisted and visited various potential sites for the construction of
its own funeral services center, it had also maintained close contact
with the local government and discussed the potential partnership
with respect to the new funeral parlor proposed to be built by the
government to strive for its concession for operation. As a result, the
Group has been taking cautious consideration on the investment in
building funeral services center and has resorted to other means to
develop its funeral services temporarily.

Nevertheless, under the impact of the Novel Coronavirus
("COVID-19"), mass gatherings are prohibited by the Langfang
government, which limited and delayed the utilisation and promotion
of the Group’s funeral services, such as funeral hall services. The
relevant promotion for its funeral services, the plan for leasing
temporary venues, as well as the plan of expanding the existing
funeral services providers have been delayed accordingly. In 2020,
the Group availed itself of the online sales platform to actively
promote the online “Cloud Tomb-sweeping” services. The addition of
more professional and diversified extended service items, and the
continuous training and hiring of professional funeral personnel
enabled the Group to enhance its service standard and satisfy
customers’ need.

Tapping further into the burial market in the
Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis & pursuing strategic
alliance and acquisition opportunities

Since the GEM Listing, the Company has performed preliminary site
visits and researched for some potential acquisition opportunities for
the purpose of pursuing strategic alliance and acquisition
opportunities according to the future plans under the Prospectus.
The Group successfully won the bid of the JV Cemetery Project on
30 June 2020 and entered into a formal JV agreement with
Xinhangcheng on 6 July 2020 in relation to the establishment of a JV
company responsible for land resumption, construction and
operations and management of the new airport (Langfang area),
relocation and settlement zone, Beijing JV Cemetery Project.
Currently, the planning and tendering processes have been
completed. In 2021, the Group will continue to actively develop the
JV Cemetery Project in all aspects, enter into contract with the
planning company, and further communicate with the district
government, the district planning authority and the urban council to
coordinate any matters related to land acquisition and land
expropriation. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to explore other
suitable opportunities for strategic alliance and acquisition in the
future.
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The Directors believe that the delay in the implementation or due
adjustments of its business plans would not have material adverse
impact on the Group since the current implementation plans are
better aligned with the Group’s development.

An analysis of the utilization of the net proceeds from the listing
date up to 31 December 2020 and the expected use of net proceeds
in 2021 is set out below:

EERR ARENEBAINERTRAEM
FHHNRABEAEEYBEEACNEE  BRE
MERFEEEEAARENER -

B - B EAE E20205F12 A31 B B B 15 318 %
BR202VF A B RBEFER R Z DT
™

Planned use of net

proceeds as stated Actual use of
in the Prospectus net proceeds Expected use
up to 30 June up to of net proceeds
2019 31 December 2020 in 2021
BE2019%F
6A30H B ZE20205
ERRERML 12A31H 2021
FEREREZ REREREZ HAMBRA
RERRB" ERRE FHEZRE
RMB RMB RMB
AR AR AR
Strengthening our market position in EAENN SN0 Rke P 14.6 million 13.3 million 1.3 million
Langfang T46HET 133BEL 138EBTL
Expanding our business scope to provide — EAEBEHE  REEERS 9.1 million 1.5 million 7.6 million
funeral services 9G.IHETT 15BETT CER-
Tapping further into the burial market AABRRERAMEREEN S FN
in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis & pursuing ~ EYESEEEE R Un BBk &
strategic alliance and acquisition 12.7 million 1.8 million 10.9 million
opportunities NIEEL 18BETL 109HET

Note: Figures in this column are adjusted based on the actual amount of net
proceeds received from the GEM Listing. The difference between the
actual amount of net proceeds received and the expected amount
disclosed in the Prospectus was allocated on a pro rata basis with
reference to the percentage of allocation set out in the Prospectus.

MiGE: WIS RGEMETMEREFENERSHE
HERZDE - -MEFAFENERSELEBR
ERFBENAHSE 2 BNERED2RAN B
SRODEA D LR HI DI
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BUSINESS OBJECTIVES, ACTUAL BUSINESS
PROGRESS AND EXPECTED DEVELOPMENTS

An analysis comparing the business objectives as set out in the
prospectus with the Group’s actual business progress for the period
from listing date to 31 December 2020 as well as the expected
development for 2021 is set out below:

Strengthening the Market Position in Langfang

%7’]’%5 B BEREXBERKRFEHR
=

BEREEMBEFBEZEAEES ETAHE
2020 12 AR M ERERER ZHLEST
AR 2021 FERER I WO T

= [&] 70 R 57 89 T 35 (L

Implementation Plan Business Progress up to the 31 December 2020 Expected Development for 2021

i HEZE2020512A3MAMEBEE

R2021F N FEHRE

(i) Upgrading the
environment and roads
in the cemetery and
developing new
sectioned burial areas

AREENRRERERKNU
RBERFNEETERE
Designing and constructing e Designed and constructed the family graves in e Continue to design other burial
burial plots crypt-style and hill-style services and develop burial plots,
BEF R EREM B EEZHEARNEAREE carrying out relevant construction
for flower burial, tree burial and
Designing and constructing e Designed and started providing flower burial and other burial services, and
family graves, tree burial tree burial services prefabricated burial plots
services and flower burial BRI FAmieftie8 s RIS RS BESSHEMEERERERE
services M HEFTIEIBEE  BIEREAME
R RERREEE  HE ERGOERER  RBEREM
R 75 K 718 22 BR %5
e Making customized burial plots
Constructing sculptures for e Designed sea burial services and sculptures for according to customer’s
sea burial services sea burial services and designed wall burials requirements from time to time
BiESERGRME ERBERYE RGERBGESE - WE RTE REEP ERTREETHIEM
2

e Carrying out relevant construction for artistic
burial services as well as relevant burial plots
according to customers’ requirements from time

to time

REFEFPERTRETERMERAFBHEMNNA

B
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Implementation Plan

BiEs & =1

Business Progress up to the 31 December 2020 Expected Development for 2021

Z2020F12B31ENEBEE R2021EMNFEHEE

Upgrading the environment of e
the sectioned burial areas
and roads in the cemetery
AREREEERNIRER
B

Upgrading the main entrance e
area and roads of cemetery
ARERMNEADRERBERE

Upgrading the gardening, o
designing and building the
landscape connecting
different sectioned burial
areas in the cemetery

AREEEE KK EEE
ERZRANTRETER

M= E

Constructing and polishing an
artificial hill in the northern
part of the cemetery

TR ERERILE R L

Building waterscape with
Chinese traditional cultural
elements

BEEAEHRBEERXILTEN

KE

Upgraded for the greening appearance of main e
entrance of the cemetery is underway

FHREERE A OB ETH

Upgraded the main entrance area and roads and
passages of the western part of the cemetery
EARERF ACDRKERKARNBE

Completed the gardening and building of the e
landscape connecting different sectioned burial
areas
ExKEEZENREEEERATNRETERD

28 :

Upgrading the passages of the
northern part of the cemetery
FARERILmBE

Setting up a cemetery services
center
BRIZBERBEH L

Designing and constructing
landscaping elements in the
cemetery to enhance the
cemetery environment
REREERALRERSB TR
WEBERRE

Upgrading the existing burial
areas environment construction
and greening management, and
adding green plants and
decorations along the land scape
of tomb selection and visit
RENEBRRFERKNE(CERE
KEEEES EEHEE 2
AR RIS N m AR E R
BihE

Beautifying the surrounding areas
of the artificial hill
AR L & B 3 [ 15

Building waterscape with Chinese
traditional cultural elements
EEAEERBRESREITENK
=

=
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Implementation Plan

BiEs & b=l

Business Progress up to the 31 December 2020 Expected Development for 2021

Z2020F12B31ENEBEE R2021EMNFEREE

Upgrading the monitoring o
system of the cemetery
HREREZERR

Designing memorial for the
body donors
RETERBBREL SR

Building a platform to conduct
public memorial ceremonies
(E3 =N E RN S =)

Developing Rose Garden, o
Langfang Garden and artistic
burial areas

FERAZEE  BHERE
2@

Upgraded the infrared facilities on the west side e
of Block C, Block D and Block E
B A ARCHEE - DA IR E R 78 (A B9 AL F AR 2R B2

Conducted fire inspection of all five burial plots
and the buildings structure inspection and
acceptance
ERSRNERBETENBRERBZELEHERSE
KB i

Designed memorial for the body donors
ERFFEERREL R

Renamed Rose Garden to Pine Garden and o
sectioned more areas in the cemetery for further
development of burial plots. The design of Pine
Garden had been completed and the

construction is in progress. Part of the burial

plots in Pine Garden are already launched for

sale

RERCHEALE TEATEZEERZHIA o
HE—FHREEM MERRFTE K MER
MEFETH - B DREANE M HEHHEE

Artistic burial areas are under continuous
development
EMBEREFELR
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Conducting regular inspection of
the burial plots
HEITEREBERigE

Building a platform to conduct
public memorial ceremonies
BErEAREREATa

Continue to develop and
complete the construction of the
entire Pine Garden with more
burial plots available for sale
BERERTREREERE -
RMUEZAHEENEN

Developing Langfang Garden
according to the market demand,
and considering to rename
Langfang Garden
WETSHERKAEBHE - WIE
EREUNBHES GG

Continue to develop and beautify
artistic burial areas

BERBERECENER



Directors’ Report
EER RS

Implementation Plan

Business Progress up to the 31 December 2020 Expected Development for 2021

B i 5t & F2020F12A3 1B NEBEE R2021F B ERE
(ii) Acquisition of additional
facilities and vehicles
BEEMRERER
Upgrading existing facilities and Purchased lawn mowers, sprinkler truck, and e Purchasing a vehicle for the daily

machinery and purchasing
additional ones (such as
waste incinerators and lawn
mowers) for gardening and
interment rituals, if required
by business development

MEBERFTE  REBLZR
HEARNBEIRFRED
KA IR R B B3R A R
Ko % 28

(iii) Provide additional burial
services

REBNBEERE

Upgrading existing services and
facilities, if required by the
business project

REXTEERFTE  Ritdl
REFEINBERSG LR

purchased and upgraded incinerators
EABHER FAREULRERE ALK
1E

Purchased new equipment and constructed new
facilities, such as electricity system and water
wells

EREFRBELERENREG LRI EHERIE

Provided columbarium storage services at Beijing e
New Airport Zone (Langfang Region)
RILRFHRSHER(BHAR)REERETF
AR 75

Provided a euphoria hall for the reconstructed
urban village in the old town of Langfang

AETERBENH PN RE L EE M

operation of the cemetery and
machineries (such as lawn movers
and other machinery and
equipment) according to the
development of the cemetery
BEERNERTS EWHRESE
(FlanE B - E b Ak k)
EERREZLEZR

Providing additional burial services
according to the necessity of
Langfang area and continuing to
provide columbarium storage
services

1R 55 BB by 1 1@ 1) B SR IR (L EE AN Y
BERBLSERUERBEF
AR 75

Undertaking multiple relocation
burial projects in the village of
New Airport Zone and increasing
the columbarium storage services
in the village
EERZERZEMETHNBETIR
Ko 38 00 B IR R B A7 AR 7 0 Y AT
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Expanding the Business Scope of the Group to Provide

Funeral Services

Implementation Plan

56 3 2

8 KN 55 18 56 7% 80 B DA SR (7B 1 IR 75

Business Progress up to the 31 December 2020 Expected Development for 2021
R2021F A EE

b=l

Z2020F12A3MBENEBEE

(i) Locating, leasing,
designing and
constructing premises for
the operation of funeral
services center and
funeral services store in
the living community
e HA - RTREE
REEERBEREP LR
R BRESREE NS
i

(i) Recruiting and training
staff for provision of
funeral services

FREERBIREHERRE
WAE

(iii) Purchasing vehicles for
funeral rituals and other
business operation
AEBBEAREMERLK
EBEBEER

58

Due to the epidemic situation, the Langfang
government has restricted the gatherings police,
which restricts and delays the use and
promotion of funeral services of the Group, such
as funeral hall services. The relevant promotions
and plans are subject to the latest government
notification and the epidemic situation before
further implementation
MREIEHBRE  BBA T ERE - RERIE
RAEEERERTHERRERE - fl0E 5
BR% - BENEERAEETRIRTEA
REEER BE-—T B

10 people including the manager of the funeral
services center have been recruited and over 10
people have been provided with training
EHEEEREROBELBEANBERS
AET A BEITHA

A funeral vehicle and two electric vehicles have
been purchased
EEE HBEEERMBLEMRE
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Communicating with local
government and civil affairs
bureau to discuss the cooperation
plan of the new funeral parlor to
be established, a further
implementation plan will be
expected by the end of 2021
B8 1 BURT & R IR B B 0 i &Y
B FRINBEEAETE
BN FFRERE—HEE
B &t &l

According to demand from
business development, recruiting
more staff for funeral services
center and newly-established
funeral services store
BEXEBERTZE  REBEERE
RO RFRINBEEREEBE
RFIEZAE

Purchasing additional vehicle for
business operation

REGKZBERINER



Directors’ Report
EER RS

Implementation Plan

st &l

Business Progress up to the 31 December 2020 Expected Development for 2021
BEZE2020F12B31HWEBEE

R2021FENFEHRE

(iv) Conducting marketing
activities for the Group’s
funeral services via mass
media (such as
newspapers)
FARESEARERET
FRAEEREBERBENT

Promoting online “Cloud Tomb-sweeping”
services and providing tomb sweeping services
on behalf of customers has started, such as the
memorial service and online shop to buy tomb
sweeping products

HERL [ERFIRBELEHAEKFRBE
KET PINERBERBRE T BEBER

o
anA

Continuing to promote online
“Cloud Tomb-sweeping” services
and providing tomb sweeping
services on behalf of customers,
such as wreath placing ceremony
on behalf of customers
BEHMER L [ERFIRE IR
HREEFBRE - flETHRE
RRTE =

Increasing the publicity and
promotion efforts, making more
use of online sales platforms and
combining the funeral service
needs of our upcoming new
funeral service centre to move
with times

KMAEEEENE FBEZS
MREET e UHESHMEE
HHNFBERENBEREE
oo BLEF (R

Expanding cooperation with those
Beijing-based funeral services
providers and mortuaries, and
carrying out marketing activities
hEEAERBERSHERNK
FREBNEIE  WHETITHES
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Tapping Further into the Burial Market in the Jing-Jin-Ji ARABRERREELMBAEZEMS - FEE
Megalopolis & Pursuing Strategic Alliance and Acquisition & B B3 K7 Uk B % =

Opportunities

Implementation Plan Business Progress up to the 31 December 2020

i HEZF2020512A3MAMEBEE

Expected Development for 2021
R2021F R BE

(i) Liaising and cooperating ¢ The Group has liaised and started cooperation

with more Beijing-based with eight Beijing-based funeral services
funeral services providers and one hospital mortuary, while
providers and mortuaries further marketing activities are delayed and
HEZIRERREMUE suspended due to the effect of the epidemic
ARAFEERXREHE FEBBHENKIERBERBER K —EER

KFEFEBRILFBEENE ME-FTHEDR
REZE HERM ITIEEE

e The Group is also negotiating with other potential
partners

AEBETLRAMBEEAIERHERD

(ii) Establishing the first o Not set up yet
Beijing-based store for CENE A
marketing purpose
RUEELRLSEERAE
178
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Expanding cooperation with those
Beijing-based funeral services
providers and mortuaries
hEEIERBERESHERNK
FE®NEE

Carrying out marketing activities,
including sales referrals and
giving out leaflets to increase
brand awareness in Beijing
EITITHEE  RDEEERER
Ik B 5 58 DA N 70 4 A BY R AR
zE

Leveraging the Group’s first store
in Beijing to extend cooperation
with funeral services providers in
other cities in the Jing-Jin-Ji
megalopolis
BEAEEERILREE AR
B 02 BT B AL T Y B &
MRIGHIER & 1E

Continue to develop the Group's
brand through its network with
other funeral services providers in
the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis

BB EE R EE T B A
BEREHERN ARESER
7N £ )

e Continue to seek suitable sites in

Beijing and expand to other cities
in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis for
setting up more stores for
promoting the Group's brand and
services
RRUBZREEEENIERS
HAEE R R R EROEEE
T Bl B b 398 T DA R AR 8 [ )
f& Ko BR %



Directors’ Report
EER RS

Implementation Plan

BiEs &

Business Progress up to the 31 December 2020 Expected Development for 2021

HEZ2020512A31B MEKEE R2021EMNFEHEE

(iii) Selecting potential
targets for acquisition
and conducting
acquisition
EEWBNEEEERE
TR

Auditors

The consolidated financial

who will

statements for the year ended 31
December 2020 have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
retire and, being eligible,

Cemetery Project on 30 June 2020. A JV
Agreement was also formally signed with
Xinhangcheng on 6 July 2020. A JV Company will
be jointly established and responsible for land
resumption, construction and operations and
management of the new airport (Langfang area),
relocation and settlement zone, Beijing JV
Cemetery Project

REEL2020F6 H30AKINIRIGAEAEIEE -
W HR2020F7 H6 R B M IE AT & & ek -
KHEZRIEERT  BEKHEE ERELE

BHEERILFAES (BYRY) IBLRERAE »

BEEH

%A

offer themselves for

reappointment, at the forthcoming AGM.

e The Group had successfully won the bid of the JV e Continuing to actively develop the

JV Cemetery Project. A contract
will be signed with the planning
company, and further arrange the
land acquisition process and
procedures and the construction
and planning plan of the project
HEEBERAESEEA B
BHARAIARNTRITAR  LE—
PREBSEMEERZHFE K
18 B #) 22 TR 21 51 &)

Seeking suitable strategic alliances
and acquisition opportunities
proactively, completing such
acquisition, forming strategic
alliance with suitable partners,
and making relevant investment
into the cooperation
TE %R = 2 & i A B s BE N W g
g THREAEBWE EaEs
TER LA BIIR B B - W & 1F
TEHBHKRE

HE2020F12A3MB I FEZAHPBERERE @
EHeEMR A CHMITER  EBRNERERRE
FEAGRT TAEBBEEET-
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Directors’ Report
EERRS

Events occurred since the end of the
financial year

On 29 March 2021, Mr. Huang Guangming (& J&RH) has tendered
his resignation as an executive Director due to his decision to devote
more time to his other personal commitments. Mr. Huang
Guangming confirmed that he has no disagreement with the Board
and there is no matter relating to his resignation that needs to be
brought to the attention of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”).

Ms. Wang Wei (“Ms. Wang”) and Mr. Huang Peikun (“Mr. Huang"”)
have been appointed as executive Directors on 29 March 2021. Mr.
Huang has been in place of Mr. Tang Chun Man Adam (“Mr. Tang”)
as the chief financial officer of the Company with effect from the
same date.

Mr. Tang wishes to pursue his personal career development and
concentrate on his own business engagement, which he has resigned
as the company secretary of the Company on 29 March 2021. Ms. Li
Ming Wai (“Ms. Li”) has been appointed as the Company Secretary
on the same date.

Further details of the change of directors, change of company
secretary and change of chief financial officer were set out in the

announcement of the Company dated 29 March 2021.

By order of the Board

Li Xingying
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 March 2021

62 CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2020

BRFERGRRENSEH

M2021F3H298 - EEMREAERREERAELE
MREMBEASE RCBHEARTESHS -2
EBREERR FHREFE 2 HIESE - B
BEEBHEBINEEAAEEAHAREMER
ARI(TBRAT) RARARIRE([RRER]) ET -

Tz ((ErE) kEFmiE((ELEDR
202139 B R T AN ITEE B ED B
BHRBREARMB X EE(HLE]D BEEEAAK

N EE -

HELRAEEERMASETEIEERT(E
MA2021F3A29R BB A R AN ARG ME (A
AMED) EHEL+([ELE)FRABEE
ZEBLAFWE -

BEERE BERNRNENE TS AEFER
RAR AR BEA2021F3A298H A&

EEFEg®

HITEZE
FEE

7% 20213 H29H



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB AR S

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Wan
Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 69 to 144,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
standards) (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

=ED

BPEEREZER)ARIARR
(RHASHSEMKRILZBRRAA)
=R

EEERNBEAIHENFEOBEEFIMBEZHEHE
ME(ZER)BERAG([ERR] REKBERQ A (5
BAEIBEED ZAHUBHRE ZSVBHERE
FER2020F12A3MA 2 &6 B AR A R EEHZEZ
BILEFEMAEHEEREME2EKER & 0FH#
HEHREEAEHBAERER UREAEHMBERRK
et BREXZEBEHE -

TERB ZEEHVBRERACREAER S
ERREEe((HESTERESE])BMHHBEER
MR ELAN((ERVERELENDEEMAF
R EEEM2020F12A8318 24 H KR
AR BEEBEZALEE2AHTERE
REAHBEESRE Y ETEASRMEHE
BRTMEZERE -

RRE®
EEREBEEEFEN(BEREHERDETE
Z BEERFENTHETEESFNREAZ
B ERA M ERREAAENEE S —
M- REEREFMBRERENESTEN
SRFENBEEE T A (BRBRBZET AN
1)) BFFYN EKE YCBETAETHE
MEREE BEFZRA BEMESHNEGFZE
EEBARLEE HEABSNERREMHER-

FAEEFTEE

REESNEXHALE BREFTETELSETEES
AHENAHMBERRTIEEENER -BF

EABDAHYBHRREALERERREEZ
E2H MTERAZXEETREFERER
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Independent Auditor’s Report
8 Rz BRAD

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN ZHHEEWNEEEREBRAITRE(E)

(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (continued)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (RREHETMKIZERAE)

Key Audit Matter (continued)

Key audit matter

HMRETEER

FARETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENENNMNEERRETEE

Revenue recognition for sales of burial
plots
E#HENRARR

We identified the occurrence of revenue
from sales of burial plots as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the
amount and volume of sales transactions
recognised during the year.
EEREMEEWANEERTE A —IEH
RBEFFE LDBHAFABRNHEER
SEBEREEREKN-

Details of revenue from sales of burial
plots are set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
EMHERAFBEHRE MU B WK T
5 o

64

Our procedures in relation to the occurrence of revenue from sales of burial
plot included:
EEREMEEWAMETHNIRET B

o Obtained an understanding of the key internal controls relevant to the
sales of burial plot.

. THRAEBBEMEENBERAZES -

o Selected burial plot sales transactions on a sample basis and:
. MEEREMEERS R

— examined the signed sales and purchase agreements to
understand the relevant terms in determining when the control
of burial plots has passed to customers.

— REEEIWNEENZE UTREHETEMES N ARER
BEPHIRR -

—  obtained evidence regarding the passing of the control of burial
plots to customers.

— DEEEHMEMEHZETEFRNER-

—  reconciled the amounts of recorded transactions and related
receipts to the signed sales and purchase agreements of burial

plots.
— HEARXSNHEEEEMEEEEHENEBIIRE
THER -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
8 Rz BUAD S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

BrEERE(ZER)ARIAKRRE(E)
(RHASHSEMKILZBRRA)

H & ¥
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Independent Auditor’s Report
8 Rz BRAD

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
8 Rz BUAD S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

BrEERE(ZER)ARIAKRRE(E)
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Independent Auditor’s Report
8 Rz BRAD

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lung, Wing Hung David.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPRERENSIVE INCOME

EFEEKEMZERE R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020F12A318 IEF[E

Year ended 31 December

HBE12A31BLLEE
2020 2019
2020 20194
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’'000
B 5 AR TR ARBFT
Revenue g 5 38,891 63,377
Cost of sales and services 5 & M AR 7% A A (5,998) (12,763)
Gross profit £ H 32,893 50,614
Other income H oAb Y A 6 10,110 4,906
Other (losses)/gains Hith (E548) M= 7 (2,612) 1,061
Gain/(loss) on fair value changes of BAFEGABED
financial assets at fair value cHMEEATE
through profit or loss BElas (EE) 16 300 (245)
Gain on fair value change of RENERNFEEZSF
investment property g 14 190 350
Distribution and selling expenses D RHER X (7,054) (6,631)
Administrative expenses TR X (8,534) (16,739)
Finance costs B 75 PR AR (78) -
Profit before tax B B0 A1 5 A 8 25,215 33,316
Income tax expense FT 15 %1 5 % 10 (7,674) (9,765)
Profit and total comprehensive income RNARHEB NEAS
for the year attributable to owners of FRmMNREREE
the Company gy 17,541 23,551
Earnings per share BRR&E R
Basic (RMB cents) ERANRED) 11 1.8 24
2020 5 - FEBME (ZR) AR QA 69



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B OF B B AR 5 3R

At 31 December 2020 #2020 12A31H

At 31 December

M12H831H
2020 2019
20204 20194
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
Mo 5E ARET T AR F T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment WME - BERZE 13 3,249 3,110
Right-of-use assets FREEE 623 —
Investment property REME 14 6,200 6,010
Cemetery assets EREE 15 8,904 8,333
Other receivables H fth B W 308 19 8,000 —
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFABRED
profit or loss T REE 16 8,900 8,600
35,876 26,053
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 18 18,605 19,273
Prepayments and other receivables BT FRIE R A At
JE U 7R 1E 19 1,265 738
Bank balances and cash RITEB LIRS 20 197,630 189,280
217,500 209,291
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAE
Trade and other payables B 5 & H h FE S
EQL| 21 6,099 13,409
Lease liabilities HEBE 598 —
Contract liabilities BHEE 22 8,033 7,687
Income tax payable JERTATISH 3,181 1,464
17,911 22,560
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEEFE 199,589 186,731
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERRBEE
LIABILITIES 235,465 212,784

70 CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2020



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BRI BRRAR

At 31 December 2020 722020412 A31H

At 31 December

MW12A831H
2020 2019
20204 20194
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®T T AREETF T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBRE 15 —
Contract liabilities AHBE 22 63,194 58,192
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEEE 17 2,234 2,111
65,443 60,303
NET ASSETS BEEFEE 170,022 152,481
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRFHE
Share capital A& A 24 66,192 66,192
Reserves ®HE 25 103,830 86,289
Equity attributable to owners AAREE AEML
of the Company R 170,022 152,481
TOTAL EQUITY EEEE 170,022 152,481

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 144 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29

March 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Li Xingying
DIRECTOR

Huang Peikun
DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SOHERBB R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020F 12 A318 IEF[E

Attributable to owners of the Company

FARERAEN
Statutory
Share surplus Other Retained
capital reserve reserves earnings Total
EE B R
(L& f# Hitif# RERA BE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR AR¥®TR AR¥T:X

At 1 January 2019 20191 A1H 66,192 6,766 1,309 54,663 128,930
Profit and total comprehensive F R Fl & 2 s
income for the year fakal — — — 23,551 23,551
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve B ZATF A&
f#8 — 3,005 — (3,005) —
At 31 December 2019 and 7M2019%12A31H
1 January 2020 N2020F 1418 66,192 9,771 1,309 75,209 152,481
Profit and total comprehensive FREMR2EWR
income for the year i — — — 17,541 17,541
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve % 5T B
[ — 2,372 — (2,372) —
At 31 December 2020 2020 12A31H 66,192 12,143 1,309 90,378 170,022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EHREETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020F12A318 IEF[E

Year ended 31 December

BENAMMBLEE
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBFT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REFTH
Profit before tax B 5% B & A 25,215 33,316
Adjustments for: BUATSFEEL AR
Interest income B WA (2,870) (1,916)
Dividend income from financial assets at KEEATFEFAEE
fair value through profit or loss MEmEED KRB A (800) (800)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - -BEREBETE
equipment 892 784
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 527 —
Amortisation of cemetery assets EREEHH 380 384
Gain on fair value change of investment REMEATFEEH WA
property (190) (350)
(Gain)/loss on fair value changes of BEAFEFTABENGREE
financial assets at fair value through N EZE (M) FE
profit or loss (300) 245
Finance costs B 765 B AR 78 -
Foreign exchange losses/(gains), net SNEEIR (Mezs) B 58 2,659 (1,032)
Operating cash flows before movements HEASEHANLE
in working capital BenhE 25,591 30,631
Increase in cemetery assets HEEEEE N (951) (1,121)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories TFERD (5 m) 668 (15,787)
Increase in prepayments and other T8 5 /I8 & H A FE U K18
receivables #n (8,527) (273)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other B 5 N E M FE
payables Rk A) /480 (7,310) 3,939
Increase in contract liabilities AR B 5,348 4,086
Cash generated from operations KSR S 14,819 21,475
Income tax paid B EH (5.,834) (26,960)
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating & /EBATE, (FTA)IR&FH
activities 8,985 (5,485)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHEBERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 202012 A318 IEF[E

Year ended 31 December

BZENAMMBLEE
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARBFT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZES
Purchase of property, plant and BEWME WFEREE
equipment (1,052) (395)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant HEME WEREKED
and equipment Ffr 1S /1R 21 —
Interest received 2T B 2,870 1,916
Dividend income received from financial BIZATEFAEZ 2SR
assets at fair value through profit or loss & EWEL AR B A 800 800
Placement of term deposits FAEHER (53,800) —
Net cash (used in)/generated BEE® (B FEHE:
from investing activities F R (51,161) 2,321
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
Interest paid 2 F (78) —
Repayments of leases liabilities EEREEE (537) —
Net cash used in financing activities METEMARFE (615) —
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents H& MR SZEYR LD FHE (42,791) (3,164)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUORELRSEFED
of the year 189,280 191,412
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXEHNTE (2,659) 1,032
Cash and cash equivalents at end FERUATIEEINERNER S K
of the year, represented by: REEEY
Bank balances and cash WITEHR LR 197,630 189,280
Less: bank deposits with original maturity &l : RE/BIE A=A LM
over three months AT K (53,800) —
143,830 189,280
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B OF B 55 ¥ ARk M 5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020F12A318 IEF[E

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Wan Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands on 25
January 2017 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The shares
of the Company are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the
registered office of the Company is 2nd Floor, the Grand
Pavilion Commercial Centre, 802 West Bay Road, P.O. Box
10338, Grand Cayman KY1-1003, Cayman Islands. The address
of its principal place of business is No.48, Louzhuang Road,
Langfang Development Area, Langfang, Hebei Province, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The principal activity
of the Company is investment holding. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the sale of burial plots and
columbarium units, provision of other burial-related services
and provision of cemetery maintenance services. The Company
and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”.

The Company’s parent company is Tai Shing International
Investment Company Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) and its ultimate holding
company is Lily Charm Holding Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI. Both of them are controlled by Ms.
Zhao Ying (“Ms. Zhao”, the "Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") which is also the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries, and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand ('000) unless otherwise indicated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; 2202012 A318 IEF[E

76

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
and the following amendments to IFRSs issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IAS 1 Definition of Material
and IAS 8

Amendments to IFRS 3  Definition of a Business

Amendments to IFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
IAS 39 and IFRS 7

The application of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards and the amendments
to IFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the
Group's financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("|FRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments'

Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions*

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework?
Amendments to IFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 — Phase 2°

and IFRS 16

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current’
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies'
and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8  Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to IFRS
Standards 2018-2020?

Amendments to IFRS
Standards

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate that
the application of the new and amendments to IFRSs above
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 202012 A318 IEF[E

78

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material if
such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment property and certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of the
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 /nventories or
value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

For financial instruments and investment property which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique
that unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair
value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 202012 A318 IEF[E

80

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”).
In contrast, a receivable represents the Group's
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 202012 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

82

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations (sales of burial plots and provision of
cemetery maintenance services), the Group allocates the
transaction price to each performance obligation on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or
service underlying each performance obligation is
determined at contract inception. It represents the price
at which the Group would sell a promised good or
service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling
price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it
using appropriate techniques such that the transaction
price ultimately allocated to any performance obligation
reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised goods or services to the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satistaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as
an asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on
a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the
assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing
all incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or
loss within one year.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under IFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 202012 A318 IEF[E

84

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to a lease of an office premises that has a
lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;
o any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; and

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Except for those that are classified as investment
property and measured under fair value model, right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets that directly
related to cemetery in cemetery assets and transfer to
inventory upon commencement of development.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property, cemetery asset or
inventory as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 202012 A318 IEF[E

86

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review,
in which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme are charged as an expense when employees
have rendered services entitling them to the
contributions.

>+

i
23

MERREERE

(%)

aijk >mm

It %
BUR

ERNGEHE (&)

NS
HBESERNEEETENGEREE
NZ B2 ﬂﬁ%iéﬁ%u&l\ﬂ’a%’iﬁ%(ﬁl\ﬁ%)
ETHNRSERSBERHNEXRE
Ao MMBEER - AINESFENEE
ERERZEMEREFHRE - RINE
EERAGENEELBERNTEN
HE o

EMBERREREREBERENRE
ERERRELHHERSEER -

B 8 B

ERA] & IR RERAEE G S PTH E
14 B % Ui HR 8 BY) B i 52 BT 46 B o

REECELENRAXHEBELARE
AR BB LR B B RS SR 1 AR AT
FE AE R ZRAR B A A B9 BB 8 B TR EL K
RV TR AR EBRER - %Ml
iy N ONIER I

RE
BIKEF KA
HEXERRKENEHOERNE

BRI B = A A8 RR (L 5K AR
RBAX -

2020 F - HEBME (FER)ARAR 87



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 202012 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2

88

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when the employee rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another IFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax (as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income) because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment property that is measured using the fair value
model, the carrying amount of such property is
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 202012 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2

90

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the
initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts
of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, resulting from
remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease
modifications, that are not subject to initial recognition
exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement
or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the
relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax
treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is
probable, the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the
most likely amount or the expected value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property
are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or
loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 202012 A318 IEF[E

92

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Cemetery assets

Cemetery assets consist of leasehold land, cost of initial
land development, and cost of landscaping for the
general public areas of the cemetery. Except for the
leasehold land element which is measured at cost model
in accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-
use assets, cemetery assets are carried at the lower of
costs less accumulated amortisation and net realisable
value prior to the commencement of development of the
cemetery. Amortisation for cemetery assets is provided
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of
the cemetery assets and is recognised in profit or loss.

Upon commencement of development of the cemetery
with the intention of sale in the ordinary course of
business of the Group, the related carrying amounts of
cemetery assets are transferred to inventories.

Impairment on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment on tangible assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or
a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories include cemetery assets developed and ready
for sale, cemetery assets under development, and
tombstones and urns. Except for the leasehold land
element which is measured at cost model in accordance
with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets,
cemetery assets developed and ready for sale, cemetery
assets under development, and tombstones and urns are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 202012 A318 IEF[E

94

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a settlement date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets of the Group are subsequently
measured at FVTPL.

0] Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 202012 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2

96

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period, with any
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the “gain
(loss) on fair value changes of financial assets at
FVTPL” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets
(including other receivables and bank balances) which are
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

For the Group’s financial assets, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

() Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effect.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 202012 A318 IEF[E

98

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

0)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a)

(b)

(@

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 202012 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 EREFBUR ()

100

Financial instruments (continued) SRI A (&)
Financial assets (continued) THEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) CREEMRME(E)
(iv)  Write-off policy (iv)  HMSH R

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of other receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instruments is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & 202012 A318 IEF[E

4.

102

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Investment property

Investment property was stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuer. The
fair value was determined based on a method of valuation
which involves certain assumptions and estimates of market
condition. In relying on the valuation report, the Directors
have exercised their judgment and are satisfied that the
assumptions used in the valuation are reflective of the current
market conditions. Changes to these assumptions would result
in change in the fair value of the Group’s investment property
and the corresponding adjustment to the amount of gain or
loss reported in profit or loss.

The carrying amount of investment property as at 31

December 2020 was RMB6,200,000 (2019: RMB6,010,000).
Further details are set out in note 14.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4, FHFAFTRERENETEZERF@®
UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Fair value measurement of financial instruments TRITAEMNATFETE
Certain of the Group’s financial assets relating to unquoted 20205124318 « A& BH T ol R (&
equity instruments in the amount of RMB8,900,000 as at 31 mTAHBYRATEFTENEREERA
December 2020 (2019: RMB8,600,000) were measured at fair R #8,900,0007T (20194 : A R #£8,600,000
values determined based on unobservable inputs using JC) M AFERIEAFE R G ERTE TR
valuation techniques. Judgement and estimation are required in BN ABIRET - RETERBEERITR
establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant 8 ) A BHR R R 1E I FI B Rl A - BB E
inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these @R er RSB ITAEM
factors could affect the reported fair values of these financial SWMMRFE#E— S BRHRME27c -

instruments. Further details are set out in note 27c.

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5. WBEREE DI

()  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with )y BFa#iWamn
customers

Year ended 31 December 2020

HZ2020F12H831HILFEE
Sales of
burial plots,
columbarium

units and Provision of
provision of cemetery
other burial- maintenance
related services services
HEEM
BB R H
Hih B BHE
A8 B8 AR 3% # 8 R 7%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AR¥T
Types of goods and service BmREREESE
Sales of burial plots SHE E i 29,595 —
Sales of columbarium units & B I 1,682 —
Provision of other burial-related 12 H fth B b AR B8 AR 75
services 3,484 =
Provision of cemetery maintenance 2t E B4 E RS
services — 4,130
Total Bt 34,761 4,130
Timing of revenue recognition TR U KBS
A point in time R B 31,277 —
Over time & B FE 7 3,484 4,130
Total @t 34,761 4,130
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; 2202012 A318 IEF[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5.

(continued)

(i)  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F128318 L FE

Sales of
burial plots,
columbarium
units and Provision of
provision of cemetery
other burial- maintenance
related services services
SHEEM -
& KRB M 32
H b E RHEER
H 8 PR 75 HEE RS
RMB'000 RMB’000
AREF T AREF T
Types of goods and service BmRkREEE
Sales of burial plots HEEH 30,228 —
Sales of columbarium units & B IR 24,886 —
Provision of other burial-related REEMEZEERE
services 4,472 —
Provision of cemetery maintenance 2 E E 4 &R
services — 3,791
Total BEt 59,586 3,791
Timing of revenue recognition ERRBENED
A point in time X R 55,114 —
Over time FiE 5 F 7 4,472 3,791
Total @st 59,586 3,791
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

5.

REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS

(continued)

(i)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of burial plots with maintenance services (multiple
performance obligations)

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
burial plots, the relevant burial plots specified in the
contracts have no alternative use to the Group. Taking
into consideration of the relevant contract terms, the
legal environment and relevant legal precedent, the
Directors concluded that the Group does not have an
enforceable right to payment prior to transfer of the
burial plots to customers. Revenue from sales of burial
plots is therefore recognised at a point in time when the
burial plot is transferred to customers, being at the
point that the customer obtains the control of the burial
plots and the payment of the transaction price is due
immediately at the point the customer purchases the
burial plots.

The cemetery maintenance service is considered to be a
distinct service. Transaction price is allocated between
sales of burial plots and the maintenance services on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Revenue relating
to the maintenance services is recognised over time. The
transaction price allocated to these services is recognised
as a contract liability at the time of the initial sales
transaction and is released on a straight-line basis over
the period of service.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing
all incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or
loss within one year.

HEEMWRHEERE (ZRENE
)
HEFHEEREMFTLNE LT IER
WHEBEMHAEEME L EERA
7w RERMERA QRK  ERERER
RBBERED EFARAEEL
5 1 B N 10 17 B P AR b AT MO
R o B 855 B i ey W s R E 8
ETEFPHNEHEER AEFPES
EWERENEREY X5EBRNX
NREFPHEEZMK L AIET -

EEGERBER —EBILNRE -
RXBERBEHBELNEEEERH
EREMBEGERE 2B OB - HgE
RISHERBEO K RBERERAER D
EEZERBOARZERRERHEE
REHHIB/ENAE YRERZK
TP Bl 745 B ) 48 48

MZERAR -—FRATHENERE
A AREBEERATTHNEENEX
HEIARSANWIBERA -
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5.
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REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS

(continued)

(i)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (continued)

Sales of columbarium units (revenue recognised at a point
in time)

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
columbarium units, the relevant columbarium units
specified in the contracts have no alternative use to the
Group. Taking into consideration of the relevant contract
terms, the legal environment and relevant legal
precedent, the Directors concluded that the Group does
not have an enforceable right to payment prior to
transfer of the columbarium units to customers. Revenue
from sales of columbarium units is therefore recognised
at a point in time when the columbarium unit is
transferred to customers, being at the point that the
customer obtains the control of the columbarium units
and the payment of the transaction price is due
immediately at the point the customer purchases the
columbarium units.

Provision of other burial-related services

Other burial-related services represented revenues from
miscellaneous services such as the organisation and
conducting of burial rituals, the design and landscaping
of the burial sites and additional engraving fees.
Revenue relating to these burial-related services is
recognised over time as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance as the Group performs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS

(continued)

(iii)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2020 and the expected
timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

PTEEZEFPANRKRBLOEMED
s

MA2020F12A318 D EEEFBEN
ET(RBIRIFD BTN HER
DR TE M OT

Provision of

cemetery

Sales of maintenance

burial plots services

RHEHEEE

HEE M HE RS

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR T T AR®T T

Within one year/on demand R—FRNREK 2,220 5,813
More than one year il —FETERME

but not more than two years — 4,478

More than two years 8 18 & = 58,716

2,220 69,007

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2019 and the expected
timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

MA2019F 128318 D EEFGED
ER(RBEITHBLBITINXSER
DRSO TEEBMOT

Provision of

cemetery

Sales of maintenance

burial plots services

REER

HEE HERTS

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBFT

Within one year/on demand R—FREER 2,437 5,250
More than one year BR—FETHBAEMRF

but not more than two years — 4,441

More than two years 8 18 & — 53,751

2,437 63,442
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REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5. WaEkREEDE @
(continued)
Operating segments K& D EB
The Group determines its operating segments based on the AEBERBIELCEARE(REBITE
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision makers, MAEBRAT(BHER]  ARFME
including Ms. Li Xingying, the general manager of Langfang NANBEIRTEB TR &R E 2
Wantong Cemetery Co., Ltd. (“Langfang Wantong”, a £CI8 F B AR St A SRR A EE SR AR (202043 A
subsidiary of the Company), Mr. Huang Guangming and Mr. BEBED) TEZARIELSEAKNR
Yu Minghua (resigned on 31 March 2020), the deputy general HEEEREDH - ERTEELCERREN
managers of Langfang Wantong (collectively, the”CODM"), BERENRAEBZ Sk EHMNER LIRS
that are used to make strategic decisions. Information reported YEH ©
to the CODM is based on the products and services delivered
or provided by the Group.
The Group's operating and reporting segments are (i) sales of AEEMNKERERDHBREFBBEE
burial plots, columbarium units and provision of other burial- B IRORR R AR A L th B I AR B AR S ¢ (i)
related services; and (ii) provision of cemetery maintenance REEEREERT -
services in the PRC.
Segment revenue and results DE M R FEEA
Year ended 31 December 2020 Bl E2020F 1231 H IFFJE
Sales of
burial plots,
columbarium
units and
provision of Provision of
other burial- cemetery
related maintenance
services services Total
HEEH
B I BB K 12 fit
H fth & 3ty REHEEER
18 B8 PR % # PR A% #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR¥T T AR®T R
Segment revenue 7 FB UK 2= 34,761 4,130 38,891
Segment results DEEE 29,133 3,760 32,893
Other income HAb Y A 10,110
Other losses HAbE1E (2,612)
Gain on fair value changes of BAVEFABRZNSE
financial assets at FVTPL BEATVTEZHNE 300
Gain on fair value change of KEMELAFEESD
investment property W 25 190
Distribution and selling expenses 2 34 & 85 & Fl &2 (7,054)
Administrative expenses THAX (8,534)
Finance costs B 7% B AR (78)
Profit before tax B A5 Al g A 25,215
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5.

(continued)

FA

iy 2 K #

&I e

Operating segments (continued) KL ()
Segment revenue and results (continued) DU R A ()
Year ended 31 December 2019 B 22019F12H31H 1F F/&
Sales of
burial plots,
columbarium
units and
provision of Provision of
other burial- cemetery
related maintenance
services services Total
RS-l
B R K 1R A
H A E b RHER
1 8 AR 75 HERS “wEt
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFIT ARBFT
Segment revenue 7 #B U 2= 59,586 3,791 63,377
Segment results DEEE 47,436 3,178 50,614
Other income RN 4,906
Other gains H i Y 1,061
Loss on fair value changes of RAFEFABEOSR
financial assets at FVTPL BEANTEZDERE (245)
Gain on fair value change of KEWMELNFEESY
investment property W &= 350
Distribution and selling expenses %5 #5 & $§& F X (6,631)
Administrative expenses THHAX (16,739)
Profit before tax B 5% Bl & A 33,316

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment results represent the gross profit attributable to each
segment without allocation of other income, other gains
(losses), gain (loss) on fair value changes of financial assets at
FVTPL, gain on fair value change of investment property,
distribution and selling expenses, administrative expenses and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment. There were no inter-segment revenue during the
current and prior years. No analysis of segment assets and
liabilities is presented as it is not regularly reviewed by the
CODM.

BES NG BOR AN A3MEAEED
B BEAR - D HMEEREDMELENTE
Mo WS E MM A - Hib e (B8) -
BAFEFABENEREEAFEEH R
@ (BR) REMELTFEESHKE 5
REERX  TRAXRPEBERA - I R[
FTERERREZRUEE RS B R EERT
G EBEEE - REEMBEFELESD A
Ml AR ETELEARELBETHE
B BYBEZ2IEEIMEERBENSD
1 o
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REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS

(continued)
Operating segments (continued)
Geographical information

All of the Group’s revenue is generated from sale of burial
plots, columbarium units and provision of other burial-related
services, and provision of cemetery maintenance services in the
PRC based on where goods are sold or services are rendered,
and substantially all of the Group’s identifiable assets and
liabilities are located in the PRC.

Information about major customers

No single customer accounted for 10% or more of the
Group's revenue for the current year. Revenue from sales of
columbarium units in the amount of RMB24,886,000 from a
single customer accounted for over 10% of the Group's
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019.

OTHER INCOME

5.

Wi R&E D

w1 BB ()
32 & R
AEENMERAHREETRRENEER
# - BIRE RIBME M EEEBRE AR
REEEEERE  MASEEMOA HEE
MEBERBRBOHEMLAFEH -

FERFEHR

WHEE - (hAREBERFERART10%K
UE-RE—BREFHEBREBNR=EAA
R 524,886,000 * fh A~ & E & 22019412
AMBIEFEWZRA10%IA £

H A

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2020 2019

2020 20194

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AREETF T

Interest income on bank deposits RAT 17 BOR B IR A 2,870 1,916
Dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL A FEFAERZZ &

MEENREKA 800 800

Government grants 8K #6 Bh 250 2,000

Rental income e WA 190 190
Income from waiver of other payable (note) #A o E i JE {5 SRIB IR A

(Mt 3%) 6,000 —

10,110 4,906

Note: An amount payable of RMB6,000,000 was waived by the counter
party and recognised as other income in the current year.
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B SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

7. OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS

7. Hfe(EE) W=

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2020 2019
20205 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains, net SNEE (B51R) Wz R R (2,612) 1,061

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging:

8. BR®iAEF

BRBLAE MG IR AT&IE

Year ended 31 December

BZENAMBLEE
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARETF T
Auditors’ remuneration ZE R & 1,050 1,180
Professional service fees for listing transfer from H GEM#E & B %2 Aff = 1R
GEM to Main Board of the Stock Exchange ETHEERBER = 10,041
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - HiE MR EIFTE 892 784
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRERE 527 —
Amortisation of cemetery assets (included in cost =& & & # 35 (B E
of sales and services) i & M BR 7% R AN) 380 384
Total depreciation and amortisation mEREERAE 1,799 1,168
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense ERRBFAXHFERR 3,872 9,327
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHHEABNRX — 493
Staff costs, including directors’ and chief ETIXRA BEEEK
executive’s remuneration (note 9): ER{TBEAEME
UE)E
Salaries, wages and other benefits He ITENREM
=l 5,847 6,134
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRAR I EH SR 85 427
Total staff costs @8 TR 5,932 6,561
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; 2202012 A318 IEF[E

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9. EE -BEITHAEBREEH
EMPLOYEE’'S EMOLUMENTS 7))
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) EBKZETHA BN
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors and RAFERE—FE RAEFBEET
chief executive by entities comprising the Group during EREES BENIENESERESTT
the current and last year are as follows: BU\E\ WEMNT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3MBLLEE
2020 2019
2020%F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AR T
Directors’ and chief executive’s EERZETRAE
emoluments I B
— Fees — E&H 267 264
— Salaries and other benefits — e REMBETR 596 705
— Discretionary performance-related — MIEXRIREH
bonus* TE4L* 291 421
— Retirement benefit scheme — RIKEF 5T &
contributions R 4 51
Total emoluments HiNesE 1,158 1,441
* Executive directors and chief executive are entitled to * BITEERERTHRABTEST
bonus payments which are determined based on the A cERBRTEERESTHR
duties and responsibilities of the executive directors and AEBERAEERK “%iifim °
chief executive as well as the operating results of the
Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 9. EE ESTHRABREEH
EMPLOYEE’'S EMOLUMENTS (continued) M )
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) EER&ZSTHAEBFHME
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2020 B E20209F12A31H 1F F /&
Retirement  Discretionary
Salaries and  benefit scheme performance-
Fees  other benefits contributions  related bonus Total
#ER RAER MEXRR
R HiEA TEIMK AL st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBTR ARBTR AR¥TR ARBTR
Executive directors: HES:
Ms. Li Xingying (note 2) FEALT (KiF2) = 202 2 123 327
Mr. Huang Guangming (note 4) EEBLAE ) = 287 2 168 457
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Ms. Zhao (note 3) HZ+ (fF3) = - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: BIYFHTES:
Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon BEREL 89 = = — 89
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert ToxERT 89 — — - 89
Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan REH S L 89 - - - 89
Chief executive: BRTHAE:
Mr. Yu Minghua (note 2) REAELA (M E2) - 107 — - 107
Total Bt 267 596 4 291 1,158

2020 F - HEBME (FER)ARAR 113



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; 2202012 A318 IEF[E

p=]}

= 4= = = -+

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 9. EE -BEITHAEREEH
EMPLOYEE'S EMOLUMENTS (continued) B )

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments (@) BEFkmE=TEHRABEM@

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2019 HE2019F 124318 1L FE

Retirement Discretionary
Salaries and  benefit scheme performance-
Fees other benefits contributions related bonus Total
ek B MERR
2R Hi a7 AR RN @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETR ARETT ARETFT ARETT

Executive directors: HOES:

Ms. Li Xingying FRFLL - 145 17 85 247

Mr. Huang Guangming EEREE - 286 34 168 488

Non-executive director: FHTES:

Ms. Zhao (note 3) L (M aE3) - - — - -

Independent non-executive directors: BIFHTES:

Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon BEwLE 88 — — — 88

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert Tx#EL 88 — — — 88

Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan REREE 88 — — - 88

Chief executive: BETHAE:

Mr. Yu Minghua RAELE — 274 — 168 442

Total 5t 264 705 51 41 1,441

Notes: P =

(1) The executive directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (1 ikjiﬂgéiﬁﬁ%%ﬁ A B % B
shown above were for their services in connection with EEﬁ = IE/Z’E% $%E@ﬂ§ﬁ ° L
the management of the affairs of the Group. The }@§§¥?F$ﬂ{7§$@ﬂfﬁﬂﬁﬁ%}§{{
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown IO
above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

(2) Mr. Yu Minghua has resigned as the chief executive officer (2) éFEE% ﬁ$5%2020¢3ﬂf1 BT
of the Company from 31 March 2020, and Ms. Li ARATHABE fﬁ?ffaﬁji/ﬁ_\”
Xingying has been appointed as the deputy chief _5%920¢3E31 AREZTAARA
executive officer of the Company with effect from 31 RITTHAREL -

March 2020.

(3)  During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, Ms. e & 52”019¢ &§0%0¢12)5]31% IE %
Zhao received her emoluments from a fellow subsidiary, Bzt /;l] A %@T%”/A a) AT 14
part of which was in respect of her services rendered as @ﬂﬁ ' %EE 9 84 “ﬁﬁﬁémiﬁ?
an employee to Langfang Wantong and as a director of W%él\ EE%E% ° EEE_C??E{J
the Company. No apportionment has been made as the Zf”ﬁ {EZE@JE?E?E%W&EL\ ﬂé%&
Directors consider that it is impracticable to apportion A % fﬂ% A ﬁEﬁ%E’\J By ] Lk ) 59 ;E\E
these amounts between her services to Langfang FFIB S EER - MO A D
Wantong and as a director of the Company and her [
services to the fellow subsidiary.

(4) Mr. Huang Guangming has resigned as the executive 4) %%? %%5%2021¢§ﬁ 29H %%E
director of the Company from 29 March 2021, and AR ﬂiﬂﬁ%t%! mE L+ (L
Ms. Wang Wei (Ms. Zhao's daughter) and Mr. Huang THLR) ﬁzﬁ\iﬁiﬁ?%iguﬁzoyi
Peikun have been appointed as the executive directors of SAVAREZERANFANITE
the Company with effect from 29 March 2021. Fe
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9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 9. EEX -EETHRAEBREEF
EMPLOYEE'S EMOLUMENTS (continued) B ()
(b) Employee’s emoluments (b) {8 &
The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the HE2020812R831BILFEAEE R
year ended 31 December 2020 included two (2019: two) LEETMWALTBERZEE (2019
directors, details of whose emoluments are set out F WP HFMFEBH AL &
above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2019: T=#%FEEHm T HES (20195 :
three) highest paid employees who are not the directors ZR)MFMEIN AT
are as follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31BLLEE
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T AREF T
Salaries and other allowances e M E M ER 728 865
Retirement benefit scheme contributions B K#& | 5+ 21 3% 34 53
762 918

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
the directors whose emoluments fell within the following
band is as follows:

FEERTHHEEOFHMANTUT

Number of employees

BEHE
2020 2019
20205 20194
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,000/% 7T 3 3

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors, chief executive or the non-
director highest paid employees as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office (2019: nil). In addition, none of the directors,
chief executive nor the non-director highest paid
employees waived any emoluments during the year
(2019: nil).

RAFEE AEEVTEMNESE &S
TRABSFEEESTFHNREE SN
FMARSI EMAREESKELMA
12 e ok BE B M B (2019 - ) o it
N EBEE HERTTRABRIEEER
= 5 R B 7 2N FE B A RER T () B
% (2019%F : &)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; 2202012 A318 IEF[E

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

116

10. FIB 8B X

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLLEE
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFT T
Current enterprise income tax BNEA ¥ TS 7,551 9,739
Deferred tax (note 17) RAERIA (B 5E17) 123 26
7,674 9,765

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit

before tax as follows:

FEMARAXEBRBAENSRNAT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFT
Profit before tax B 250 Al g A 25,215 33,316
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% RiE AR E25% A E
B8 6,304 8,329
Tax effect of expenses not deductible LR
for tax purpose Uikr 34 1,460 2,103
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose T ZER T U A K
Mg E (242) (648)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERHBEBEN
B & 152 —
Utilisation of tax losses previously not A LA AR
recognised e A — (19)
Tax expense MIBHX 7,674 9,765
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 A318 IE F[E

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Note:

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the”EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill") which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group’s subsidiaries had no
assessable profit subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax.

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

10. FrBHiBE X @)

B

RIEPECEMBTETEEMBRED RDEX
FRBTEE D - PEMERRNRER25% °

M2018F3A218 » B EZ G BBQOITFRK
B (BT BOIERNTER]) » 5| AFBHN
WE o i EEN2018F3A28AFEX AEE I
REBFIZ - REFNESHMES AERERE
BRE2ABEBITEN SRS 25%H - MBEEB T
LA EZSEFI S 1R16.5% 8 - THAERBERSE
BRGSO EETEN R GEELRE R
R16.5% 8 F -

MRARENNE QB L ERABNEBNEHA
ERBEMN - MA G B WET L EF LT BT
BR R -

" SRaE3
ARTEE B SRER RSB TR
BT RBEE

Year ended 31 December

BZENAMBLEE
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARBFT
Earnings: B
Earnings for the purpose of calculating basic RATEERER
earnings per share (profit for the year L= oRl
attributable to owners of the Company) (K2REEE A
JE 15 5F P9 7)) 17,541 23,551
Numbers of shares: RiDEE
Numbers of ordinary shares for the purpose of FH NI EGRER
calculating basic earnings per share BN ) E AR
# A 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000

No diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 were presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.

RE E2020F M2019F 12 A3 1B It FEH &
BEEBETERER MAZMFELX25E
% 386 S8 28 ) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; 2202012 A318 IEF[E

12. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2020, nor
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting

12. BE

HZE2020F12A31BLFE - AR A EX
NEZEINREFELEBEER B3R5
KRBT ER ST ERKE (20196 « &) -

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. X -BERRE
Furniture,
Leasehold Motor fixtures and
Buildings improvements vehicles  equipment Total
HeE &AL
£ LEL S BE O REBERRE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥TRT AR®BTRT AR¥TR AR®BTR
Cost N
At 1 January 2019 20191 A1H 6,809 318 1,191 1,887 10,205
Additions NE — — — 395 395
At 31 December 2019 2019F12A31H 6,809 318 1,191 2,282 10,600
Additions NE — — 278 774 1,052
Disposals & — — — (26) (26)
At 31 December 2020 20209F12 A31H 6,809 318 1,469 3,030 11,626
Depreciation e
At 1 January 2019 201941 A1H (5,240) (46) (713) (707) (6,706)
Provided for the year FAEE (294) (15) (150) (325) (784)
At 31 December 2019 20194F12A31H (5,534) (61) (863) (1,032) (7,490)
Provided for the year FRNEE (294) (15) (180) (403) (892)
Eliminated on disposals o S B i EH — — — 5 5
At 31 December 2020 2020412A31H (5,828) (76) (1,043) (1,430) (8,377)
Carrying amount BRTHEE
At 31 December 2020 20204124318 981 242 426 1,600 3,249
At 31 December 2019 2019412A31H 1,275 257 328 1,250 3,110
The above items of property, plant and equipment are Fii¥E HmMERREEBSRIESEEIN
depreciated on a straight-line basis, taking into account their HEER I T ERTE
residual values, at the following rates per annum:
Buildings Over the shorter of the remaining lease term of land and estimated useful
life of buildings of 20 years
BF REMFATEBEEFEA A EAFEI0FNRES
Leasehold improvements 20.00%
HEMEEE
Motor vehicles 24.25%
A
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 19.40%-32.33%
B RERERE
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14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The Group leases out a parcel of land under operating lease
with rentals payable annually. The lease run for an initial
period of 1 year (2019: 6 years).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as the lease is denominated in
RMB, being the functional currency of the group entity. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or
lessee’s option to purchase the asset at the end of lease term.

14. REYHE

AEBUKEHEET BB BRI 8F

YR -HEHIB ABIF(019F : 6
F) o
HREENEEEENEEE ARKST

{E WAEE T eRBELYFmMAZIIER
- HESHTRENBKEERE R L&
HARHEMANBEEEMNEEE -

RMB’000
ARET

Fair value AF¥E
At 1 January 2019 20191 H1H 5,660
Gain on fair value change of investment property REMEATFEZH WA 350
At 31 December 2019 20194F12A31H 6,010
Gain on fair value change of investment property HEMERNTFTEZH R 190
At 31 December 2020 2020912 A31H 6,200

The fair values of the Group’s investment property as at 31
December 2019 and 2020 have been arrived at based on a
valuation carried out by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited
(@ member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors), an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected with
the Group.

The Group engaged the independent qualified professional
valuer to perform the valuation. The Directors work closely
with the qualified professional valuer to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

The fair value of investment property is derived using the
direct comparison method. Direct comparison method is by
reference to market comparable with adjustments to reflect the
additions and locations of the subject properties.

In measuring the fair value of the property, the highest and
best use of the property is their current use. The fair value of
investment property has been adjusted to exclude prepaid or
accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.

R20194F KX2020F 128318 AEBEEKEY
ENATEREAEETEBENBLGE
REEHEMBETEEFEBEBERAA
(BBRAEMEZeg8)MHEER -

AEBZBBIAEREEGEMETRH
BE-BEFTUERERBXLEMBINAE B
R EE e E B R B E -

REVENRTVFEEEBERLEEMG - B
BELBESEM S ALY EL(EHRE
ARBRIZE M E KM INE D R E -

AEMENRTER  MENRSRRER
BERERRE REVENRFESIELH
B UHIRENREFEEHERA B2
EEFE-
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BEWE®

TEBIEEE T REREYEDNTELT
SEE AR B2 BT M B TR R 8 A
HE)ERBEATESBOBASENATE
EREEATESBIENATERE -

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued) 14.

The following table gives information about how the fair value
of the investment property is determined (in particular, the
valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are

120

categorised based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements is observable.

At 31 December 2020

202012 A31H

Relationship of

Investment property held Valuation technique(s)  Significant unobservable inputs
by the Group Fair value hierarchy and key input(s) unobservable input(s) to fair value
RERER ERFH TABEBRAYE
AEEMERENE NYEER TEBABE BEBAYE BATLENER
Investment property Level 3 Direct comparison Site unit rate, using An increase in the
(Carrying amount: method The key input is:  direct market site unit rate used
RMB6,200,000) Site unit rate comparable and taking  would result in a
into account of time, same percentage
location and individual increase in the fair
factors such as size and  value measurement
quantum of properties,  of the investment
of RMB607/5q.m. property and vice
versa.
REME E=R EELBE SEMLE  KAE  AEASHEALLE
(REME: TERABER: EWSTLBEEY  FASEIRENE
A K #6,200,0007T) Y5 o B8 7 L R ARER - wEREM  ATEFELAER
EREE  PHmER - R2TA -
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)
At 31 December 2019

Investment property held
by the Group

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)
RERER
TERAYEE

Fair value hierarchy

AEEMBRENE AFEER

14.

BEWE )

201912 A31H

Significant
unobservable input(s)
BEAFRT
BEGAYE

Relationship of
unobservable inputs
to fair value
TAEEBABESE
ATENEE

Investment property Level 3 Direct comparison
(Carrying amount: method The key input is:
RMB6,010,000) Site unit rate

RENE E=H BRLBUA

(BRMEME TEBWABER:
AE%6,010,0007T) 5 B AL X

There were no transfers into and out of Level 3 in both years.

Site unit rate, using
direct market
comparable and taking
into account of time,
location and individual
factors such as size and
quantum of properties,
of RMB586/5q.m.

GHEMLE  FRE
EWE AL BIER Y
B AR EA
ERAZ - flinmER
EREE BARE
5867T,/ F K o

MEFEREBAREBLE=R2BER -

An increase in the
site unit rate used
would result in a
same percentage
increase in the fair
value measurement
of the investment
property and vice
versa.

P s AL L R
rHAeBERENE
AVERGE AR
Ll Rz TR
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

15.

122

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment
property, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent
it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
Group engaged third party qualified valuer to perform the
valuation of the Group’s investment property. The Group will
first consider and adopt Level 2 inputs where inputs can be
derived from observable quoted prices in the active market.
When Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group will adopt
valuation techniques that include Level 3 inputs.

14. BEWHE »)

NFEFERGERIE

B AKRERENMENRATER  ARES
EREENTSABREE - HLEE R
MBABRE ASEEZRFE=-7TAERMA
EMAAERENRENEEE AEEEH
EEBREBFE SR ARE DAREBA
BETEARTENAERREES - WY
BE_SNBARE AfBAERAERE
=R A BB E R

CEMETERY ASSETS 15. EEEE
Leasehold Landscape  Development
land facilities costs Total
HELH SBXiE BR KA #ct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T AR TR AR%Tnx
Cost X AR
At 1 January 2019 20191 A1H 8,557 3,542 830 12,929
Additions NE — 1,121 — 1,121
Transfer to inventories BEREFE (1,353) (641) (131) (2,125)
At 31 December 2019 72019512 A31H 7,204 4,022 699 11,925
Additions NE — 951 — 951
At 31 December 2020 7202012 A31H 7,204 4,973 699 12,876
Amortisation B E
At 1 January 2019 R2019F1H1H (3,265) (265) (318) (3,848)
Provided for the year FRNEE (171) (196) (17) (384)
Eliminated on transfer B P 5H 532 56 52 640
At 31 December 2019 2019412 A31H (2,904) (405) (283) (3,592)
Provided for the year FREE (144) (222) (14) (380)
At 31 December 2020 72020912 A31H (3,048) (627) (297) (3,972)
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2020 7202012 A31H 4,156 4,346 402 8,904
At 31 December 2019 72019512 A31H 4,300 3,617 416 8,333
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15.

16.

CEMETERY ASSETS (continued)

Effective from 1 January 2019, the carrying amount of
leasehold land is measured under IFRS 16 at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. The
leasehold land is amortised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term of 50 years.

Landscape facilities represent the construction cost of arbors
and bridges in the mausoleum. Amortisation for landscape
facilities is provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter of
the remaining lease term of land and estimated useful life of
20 years.

Development costs represent the costs paid for the foundation
work and putting the land into the condition ready for
development of cemetery business. Amortisation for
development costs is provided on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life (same as leasehold land over the lease
term).

Upon commencement of development of an area within the
cemetery, the proportionate cemetery assets are transferred to
inventories.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

15.

16.

EREE®

H2019F 1 A1  HE LW EREEERE
B % B 745 R 2 2 BI| 251655 DA Ak A SR fa] 2 5t
BHERERRESETE AELHUELR
A FASO4F T HA Ay S o

SEREERETRTERBROEZRKAN -
RBURR M DA B AUER L TR E H B A A AT
ERFEM0FMEFOREETIRENH -

BRANERBETERAFELMTAER
B R ER R T S HIRAS o 8RB SA
BERENGEFAERAFH(EEAHANEE
T HAR) REHHE#E S o

EENEMEREERE - BEEEEL
BT -

BAVEFABENERMEE

At 31 December

M12H831H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T AREF T
Unlisted investment: FELETIHE -
— equity securities — BRARFFH 8,900 8,600

At 31 December 2019 and 2020, the Group had 10% equity
interests in Huimin Town Bank Co., Ltd of Anci District,
Langfang City (BT ZAEZRNERITRG BRAQA),
which was classified as financial assets at FVTPL.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the amount of gain
on fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL of
RMB300,000 (2019: loss of RMB245,000) was charged to
profit or loss.

Details of the valuation of the financial assets at FVTPL are set
out in note 27(c).

20194 22020412 8318 » KE B B
PR RERMNBERITROAER Q0%
i 2EAARNFEFABZNSHE
Eo

MRELE2020F 128318 IEF[E - R AFEET
ANEHENEREELAFEEHWAEARKE
300,0007T (20194 = A R #245,0007T /&5 18)
PIBEE M -

BREAFESABRNEBEENGES
BRI F27(0) ©
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17. DEFERRED TAX

124

The deferred tax liabilities recognised by the Group and
movements thereon during the current and prior years are as
follows:

17. EEEF 18

AEBRAFERBEFEERNELERE
BERHEEHMT

Withholding tax
on dividend Fair value Fair value
declared by a change on change on
PRC subsidiary investment financial assets
but not yet paid property at FVTPL Total
H BB 2 R
ENAEICES BATEGTA
XRNRE REM* BENER
WEAH WHATERY BEELAVELSD st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBT ARBT ARBT
At 1 January 2019 20191818 2,200 173 (288) 2,085
Charge/(credit) to profit or loss WE&ENE/ (GTABH)

(note 10) (MzE10) — 88 (62) 26
At 31 December 2019 2019 12A31H 2,200 261 (350) 2,111
Charge to profit or loss (note 10) R (FFE10) — 48 75 123
At 31 December 2020 2020%12A318 2,200 309 (275) 2,234

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had unused tax losses of
RMB691,000 (2019: RMB85,000) available for offset against
future profits. As at 31 December 2020, the Group has not
recognized deferred tax assets for its unused tax loss of
RMB691,000 (2019: RMB85,000) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.
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17. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 17. EZEF E &)
The following unrecognised PRC income tax losses has fixed T3E EE N H B R R R B TS E R
expiry date, which will be expired in the following year: R TFERE:

At 31 December

M12831H
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T AR T
31 December 2023 2023F12A31H 85 85
31 December 2025 202512 A31H 606 —
Total HET 691 85
Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on BB TSR E - 8200861 A1H
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC iR AR BB B A B B E AR & A S R AR
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred tax has BEGTEIOR o BB 5 B g 4% 5 BR i =
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements BELMRHE  BZBRRFEENAI R AR
in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated BETEERE MABHTBEMNB AR R R
profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounted to RMB98,851,000 FI jE {5 Be BF = %8 A R #598,851,0007T (2019
(2019: RMB78,113,000) as the Group is able to control the F: AR¥ET8,113,00070) & DB IS 3R KR 1E
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is o 9 T 7 TE B o 720204F 128318 - B
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the RERELET H & E A A R9,8850007T
foreseeable future. The corresponding unrecognised deferred (20194 : AR¥7,811,0007T) °

tax liabilities as at 31 December 2020 was RMB9,885,000
(2019: RMB7,811,000).

18. INVENTORIES 18. &
At 31 December
®W12H31A8

2020 2019
2020F 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T X AR T
Burial plots i 1,756 1,911
Tombstones 258 596 638
Columbarium units B IX R 16,253 16,724
18,605 19,273
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19. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

126

19. BAREREMEKRRE

At 31 December

M12H31H
2020 2019
202045 20194
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR® T ARETF T
Current B &3

Staff advance BI®X 30 30
Prepayments SN 1,002 471
Others H 233 237
1,265 738

Non-current JEENHEA
Guarantee deposit (note) RE £ (K1sE) 8,000 —

Note: The amount represents the interest-free guarantee deposit to a
third party, Langfang Xinhangcheng Real Estate Development Co.,
Limited (ERSF i #T M B EM % B R 2 A, “Xinhangcheng”)
for development of new cemetery project located in Langfang
relocation and settlement zone, Beijing, and should there be no
breach on the part of Langfang Wantong before the official
commencement of operation of the cemetery, Xinhangcheng
shall within 90 days therefrom refund the guarantee deposit to
Langfang Wantong.
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20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 20. SRITHBREAS
Bank balances carried interest at market interest rates ranging 20206 12A31B - RITEBRBFEZN T
from 0.30% to 1.95% per annum as at 31 December 2020 0.30% £ 1.95% #1551 2 (20195 :
(2019: 0.30% to 0.35% per annum). RMB is not a freely FNT030%%E035%) c AREEZTA]AE
convertible currency in the international market. The exchange KIS EHEBRNEE AREMNEXRHH
rate of RMB is determined by the government of the PRC and BRNETE  BZERAEELFHZHHK
the remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to JiF 6 A0 &Y B 3 PR I 3R IR o
exchange restrictions imposed by the government of the PRC.
The Group’s bank balances and cash are denominated in the REBRTEB LB S U T EBEE
following currencies:
At 31 December
M12831H
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T R AREF T
Denominated in RMB UARBEHE 156,301 142,052
Denominated in HK$ A TTEHE 41,329 47,228
197,630 189,280
21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 2. EFRHEHMENRE

At 31 December

R12A31H
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T AREETF T
Trade payables 2 5 EMNRIE 2,122 2,180
Accrued expenses FEET R X 3,977 11,229
6,099 13,409
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 2. EFREMENARE @

NTREREHRREZAHZINE SR
N RIBEIRE DT

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of each reporting
period:

At 31 December

128318
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETF T
Less than 1 year 19F A 886 2,041
1 to 2 years 1224 1,133 51
2 to 3 years 2E3F 15 —
Over 3 years 3F LA E 88 88
2,122 2,180

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. EEE

BHRABERBENREHRRRREEFEES
EEWNERBERBOE -

Contract liabilities represent the obligations to transfer burial
plots and cemetery maintenance services in accordance with
the revenue recognition policy and the nature of the business.

At 31 December

R12H31H
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBFT
Sales of burial plots HEZH 2,220 2,437
Provision of cemetery maintenance services $E it & B 4 # R % (M 5%)
(note) 69,007 63,442
71,227 65,879
Current Vi) 8,033 7,687
Non-current FERD 63,194 58,192
71,227 65,879
Note: The increase in contract liabilities in the current year was mainly Wer: REEEHNEBEENNEERAARIE

due to the long-term advances received from customers. PHREREMNRE BEBRERBNEFS
Customers who purchase burial services are required to make ERFEREEN R EBRBEE L ZH20
advance payments for maintenance fees, relating to the on- FHRERE ZEXB-RIABEEHE
going cemetery maintenance services of their burial plots and —PE AT e

memorials over 20 years, and such amounts are generally paid

together with the purchase of burial plots.
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22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 22. ENEE®
The following table presented the amounts of revenue TREJINEZERODREESHE  ZEKE
recognised in the profit or loss which were included in BEFARBEENENBE-

contract liabilities carried forward from prior periods.
Year ended 31 December 2020 22020912431 H 1F F/&E

Provision of

cemetery
Sales of maintenance
burial plots services
RHEEE
SHEE # B R %
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR®T R
Revenue recognised that was included RENGFAEHNEBELER
in the contract liability balance BB R U e
at the beginning of the year 217 3,988
Year ended 31 December 2019 #HZ2019F12531H 1L F /&
Provision of
cemetery
Sales of maintenance
burial plots services
RHER
ih=-8:1 HeERR 75
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFIT
Revenue recognised that was included REVHFAGNEBELH
in the contract liability balance BB R
at the beginning of the year 1,600 3,635
The Group receives all the contract amounts when signing the AEEREEEM RREEEREERBE R
contracts with customers on sales of burial plots and provision EPHEZEHNBUNMEHENEE X5E
of cemetery maintenance services. Transaction price is BIEEEUEYNEBEENIHEEMEEE
allocated between sales of burial plots and the maintenance RE2EIE  PEREZSFRBEHNZZER
services on a relative standalone selling price basis. The RERBERIRERRENEE - AEH
transaction price allocated to these services is recognised as a R ERINFBIINFTERNEZ B I IE
contract liability at the time of the initial sales transaction. The MASERHEES  BENRBERIITREES
Group considers the advance payment schemes does not ARMELLD  HAERESBETSREBKE
contain significant financing component and accordingly the BEMFZEMEFAE-

amount of consideration is not adjusted for the effects of the
time value of money taking into consideration that the
payment terms were not structured primarily for the provision
of finance to the Group.
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23. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 23. st &EZ B E B ER

24,

130

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

At At
1 January New lease Financing Interest 31 December
2020 entered cash flows expenses 2020
#2020 A 420204
1RA1R #EHE Reng FERX 12A31H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTRT ARBTR AR®TRT ARETR
Lease liabilities HE&R — 1,150 (615) 78 613
SHARE CAPITAL 24. A
Number of shares RMB’000
M fn &1 B ARBFT
Ordinary shares of United States Dollar FRk0.01ZET([ET])
("Us$") 0.01 each B & A
Authorised: VETE
At beginning and end of 2019 and 2020 20194 }2020% 4 ¥])
PR 3,000,000,000 205,984
Issue and fully paid: BITRER
At beginning and end of 2019 and 2020 20194 }2020%4 4 %))
4R 1,000,000,000 66,192
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25.

26.

RESERVES
Other reserves

Other reserves were all generated in 2017, which represented
(1) a negative amount of RMB23,500,000 being the excess of
cash consideration paid for acquisition of Langfang Wantong
over its registered capital pursuant to the group
reorganisation; (2) an amount of RMB29,832,000 payables to
Mr. Wang Jianjun (Ms. Zhao's spouse) and Ms. Zhao by the
Group after deducting related tax charge which was waived by
them and accounted for as a deemed contribution to the
Group; and (3) a negative amount of RMB5,023,000
capitalised into share capital pursuant to the capitalisation
issue.

Statutory surplus reserve

Pursuant to the relevant PRC rules and regulations, the
subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the PRC are required
to transfer no less than 10% of their profits after taxation,
after offsetting any prior years’ loss as determined under the
China Accounting Standards, to the statutory surplus reserve
until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered
capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before the
distribution of a dividend to shareholders of the PRC
subsidiaries. Statutory surplus reserve is non-distributable other
than in liquidation and can be used to make good previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into paid-in capital
in proportion to the existing interests of equity owners,
provided that the balance after such conversion is not less
than 25% of the registered capital.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of borrowings and
lease liabilities, if any, net of cash and cash equivalents and
total equity of the Group.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with the
capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through raising
of new capital, issue of new debt or the redemption of the
existing debts.

25.

26.

#E

H b 7

FiEEMRBEESR2017EELE  EhMas
% A R #23,500,0007T & 1R 5 £ B =AU
EBH8RAMZANReREBEEFZMER
WED  QAEEBRNKRABRER S &E
NEBRELRA (LTRSS RELTHR
TH A R#29,832,000T ' ZEFRBCERE
B TIERAAHAEENEBAR  XQ3)
BRIEEREBITERAMERANESEAR
#5,023,0007T °

AEBBGEHE

REFPE AR RER - NEBEA PR
MR ERRBAENBR BT FERER
BlgsrERETMNEREZ  BTOR10%0
BRREENESERELITRGHE EEHE
SERE B M E A M50% o BRE BB
DA EDIRBE Z BB EZMHEE - BRI
EHEMBRAGESR TAEATRGHRETH
FUDIR - EAERBRHEETANEBHBEF
EMEE(NE)  RBREEE ARE#ER
ML Pl R B A - HEREEHB TS
DR EME ARE25% ©

EXEREE

AEEEREAN HERASEERENES
BEBEEERLE RANEBREERELRS
HREREL LHTRRERADF - AEENHE
BRBENBE-—FRITTE -

AEEMEAZEBEEERLEEREM
BIENMBEREe A SEBMARLEE#

TAREE

AEBEEEEEN RIS ENGERE - RIBAH
na BEEEZEEAKAREEABRBEH
Bk ZERERENHREBERZS AEEEE
BEEFERN BOHEBREORER
B PTEHEEERER-
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

132

Categories of financial instruments

7. EmI A

a. ST ANiE

At 31 December

M12H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREF T
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEBERATERN
TRMEE 205,893 189,547
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAVFEFAEBEREN
TRMEE 8,900 8,600
Financial liabilities Eal =N}
Amortised cost 55 AN 5,184 12,481

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's financial instruments consisted of financial
assets at FVTPL, other receivables, bank balances and
cash and trade and other payables. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (interest rate risk and foreign
currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management of the Group manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(i) Market risk

The Group's activities expose it primarily to the
financial risks of interest rates and foreign
currency.

There has been no change to the Group's
exposure to market risks or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risk from prior year.
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b. TEAREERENBE
AEENESMITASBREAFETA
BaWe@MEE HMEWXE R
THEHEMREANE S REMENR
H-2 BT AMNFBERAEBNZER
B-HZSZeRmITAHEBANRARERE
3% E b (R R R g & oM EL gD - {3
ERBEREE AR

4 fe] R B2 % 5 A B B9 BROSR B A R 3C e
AEBEEEEELRERZFER
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

(i)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market
interest rate on bank deposits carried at prevailing
market interest rates based on or by reference to
the interest rate promulgated by the People’s Bank
of China.

The Group currently does not have interest rate
hedging policy. However, management will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

The sensitivity analysis is not presented as the
management of the Group considered that the
sensitivity of the Group’s exposure towards the
change in interest rate is not material to the
consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currency risk

The Group collects all of the revenue in RMB and
incurs most of the expenditures as well as capital
expenditures in RMB.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign

EMITR®
b.  SEEKEIE B EREBUK )

(i)

3% & B (&)

Tl 3 ) fz & R

HRRIRITES &ﬁﬁ&ﬂ%¢l
Aiﬁﬁ%%%ﬂfu#m*%
Fh%—ﬂ—.—u = .&tz’gﬁ@.r“'
N m%‘ﬂ—'—/&aﬁﬁﬁffﬁw ME
ESTCE

AL E B AT A R SR BUR
BERESEERNLERLME
KA R -

MR AEEEEER AN EEY
MR B RO SRR E 1 B BF BT 5 3R
RUBERTE  HA B2
R AT

S L

AEBMAARZEHNARE W
B KEFD P s B AR ST IR PA
AR¥EE-

AEBUINEHEZEREER

currency denominated monetary assets and ERBERRERARZREEBEN
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting N
period are as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE =
At 31 December At 31 December
M12A31H M12A31H
2020 2019 2020 2019
20204 20194 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRET AR®TE AR®BTRT ARETE
HK$ BT 41,505 47,570 1,198 934
2020 Ff - EBMEGER) BERAAF
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

134

(i)

Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation in
HK$ against RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2019: 5%) increase or decrease in RMB
against the relevant foreign currency. 5% (2019:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 5% change in foreign currency rates.

An analysis of sensitivity to currency risk for the
Group is as follows:

27. €@ I A
b. 2@ERERERZENREEGE

(i)

5 E R ()
SR B (AR
BURE DT

AEBTEMHBTHARKE
KRB R -

TERFAVNAEEHARKE L GE
GN B TE R #95% (20194 5% )
N skom 2 B E ©5% (2019
F 5% )RMAGABEEE
B A B B RHNE R R B BT A Y
BREELL R WREEIEEYIE
REREE 2 BEEEHTE -
BRAED I EBIEUINERTEN
KREZEINEER - WHRREHAR
H NS [E R F E5%1EH FAE -

7% 8 (8 50 65 6 O B U 5 A
mF

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLFE
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AR T
Increase/(decrease) in post-tax profit 4 A& 4 1% % K 2
for the year o, CR )
— if RMB weakens against HK$ — BRARER
BITESS 2,015 2,332
— if RMB strengthens against HK$ — — R AR L
BT E R (2,015) (2,332)
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

(i)

Credit risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group's credit risk primarily relates to other
receivables and bank balances. The credit risk on
bank balances is limited because the bank
balances are maintained with creditworthy
commercial banks in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The other receivables are measured on 12m ECL
basis. For the purposes of internal credit risk
management, the Group uses past due
information to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.
There is not past due record of other receivables.
In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group's credit risk is not significantly increased.

E@IT A

b.

(i)

2020 F - HEBME (FER)ARAR

TR EREER R RBER@E

EER R

R|ERR - REBRRE TR
BOIETAEYEHERASEEHS
BHRANRSEERRIIAE G
%ﬁ#ﬁ%%LﬁﬁEﬁwmi
MEENEEHEEL -

REENEZERBR TS EEME
WHRTBRBRITHEBER - RITHE

BERRTEMESNEERYT
BIERT AUt BBRITERED
EERBRTAK-

Hih ks mZz12@ AEHER
EEEEFE - BETAIRER
B ANEEF A E R
EERBEVIERUARZE KR
@%Moﬁmmwaﬁﬁﬁ@
Hoptltms  EFRALEEH
= B 2 fg 0 4 K 0@ 3G 0 o
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

136

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

27. €@ I A
b. “REMREERZNEKEE@E

(iiiy  Liquidity risk management (i) mEBESRKLER
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRAVREEETESHAE
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial HFHENEEHE - ZRBER
liabilities. The table has been drawn up according SEAUEENRNGRFEERNE
to the undiscounted cash flows of financial MEERUBERERERE - %
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the ZAKZWWHERAESE SR
Group can be required to pay. The table includes 2-EMERZE - AIRERE
both interest and principal cash flows. To the BRMEAROMETH -
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived based on the
interest rate outstanding at the end of the
reporting period.
Weighted Over 1 year Total
average Less than but less than undiscounted Total carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years cash flows amount
i 1E0EE KBEHEBES
7= DRE PE AN RELE ERHESH
% RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
% ARBTR AR¥TRT AR¥TR ARETR
At 31 December 2020 2020412318
Non-derivative financial liabilities FiiEemasE
Trade and other payables B REMEMNTE 5,184 — 5,184 5,184
Lease liabilities HERE 9.6% 625 25 650 613
Total @it 5,809 25 5,834 5,797
At 31 December 2019 2019%12A31H
Non-derivative financial liabilities FITEERERE
Trade and other payables B 5 RE MR A 12,481 - 12,481 12,481
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

C.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The fair values of financial assets at FVTPL have been
arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out by Vigers
Appraisal & Consulting Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected with the Group.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets are determined (in

27. €@ T B
¢ SBRmIAMATE:ES
REBAT S TEKRAFETE -
LEFTHBRE -

AEBAEEEEER QAT EFTEN
ERMEERNTE
BAFEFABZNEREEATE
DEREREEL EMENBLEE
REXGHEMEBHEEFEBERA
RARMETHOBERTE -

TRETEHRNNETEREERF
EMEHN (CERMANMGERN RS

particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used). ABIR) ©
Fair value
as at
31 December Valuation techniques  Significant
Financial assets 2020  Fair value hierarchy and key inputs unobservable input(s)
720205
124318 fEERM R BEARATHE
tRMEE HWAFE AFEER TEHAYE BABE
RMB’000
ARBTTT
Financial assets at FVTPL 8,900  Level 3 Market approach: based P/B ratio: 0.84 (note)
— unlisted equity (2019: 8,600) E=# on the target companies’ (2019: 0.84)
investment financial performance DLOM: 30%
BAFEFABEDN 8,900 and the multiples of mHREX:0.84 ()
CREE —FLT (2019% : comparable companies. (20194 : 0.84)
P A% & 8,600) The key inputs are: (1)  EBRZ MG mBIEITE

Note: An increase in the P/B ratio used in isolation would result
in an increase in the fair value measurement of the
financial assets at FVTPL, and vice versa. A 5% increase/
decrease in the P/B ratio holding all other variables
constant would increase/decrease the carrying amount of
the investment by RMB445,000 (2019: RMB430,000).

Price to book ratio ("P/B 30%
ratio”); (2) Discount for
lack of marketability
("DLOM")

migE: EREEAF
FHERARUTELRD
A FEHAHE
A(mEX(mE
K] QBzmisnE
R (Rzmsna
EZii=A))

M EBEANTRIIENSEBIZA
FEFABSNSREERFER
BN RZITA-fWAAECES
TE - mRREE B 5% E K
REFEmERZM RIARE
445,0007T (20194 : A & 430,000
JL) e

B
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 27. €@ I A
c.  Fair value measurements of financial instruments ¢ ==MIEMNAFEFT=E®HE
(continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements ERAFEGTENHR
Financial assets
at FVTPL
BEAFETA
BENEREE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
At 1 January 2019 7201941818 8,845
Loss on fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL & A F{EFT ABZEH 7
BEATFEZHEIE (245)
At 31 December 2019 7201912 A31H 8,600
Gain on fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL & QA F{EF AEZEH & 7
BEEATFEZH RS 300
At 31 December 2020 7202012 A31H 8,900

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that
are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but
fair value disclosures are required)

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate to
their fair values.
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28. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

As at 31 December 2020, the investment property held by the
Group for rental purpose has committed tenant for one year
with fixed rental.

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on lease are as

28. K&EHESE
REBERHEA

HR2020F12A318 ' AEBEHERDESH
REMERBFLIIAR—FRNER @A

F o

AR BEEREEENRAT

follows:
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR AREEF T
Within one year R—FR 200 200
29. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 29. EXREIE
At 31 December
R12H31H
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREETF T
Contracted but not provided for in the EEIHERRNE OB
consolidated financial statements: WA
— Expenditure in respect of — BEREEFEMNRX
cemetery assets 73 348
— Expenditure in respect of property, — ME - BEREKBE @
plant and equipment o2 88 —

2020 F - HEBME (FER)ARAR
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

31.

140

The employees of the Group are members of a state-managed
retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC Government.
The Group is required to contribute 20% of the total monthly
basic salaries of its current employees to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the
specified contributions.

The total costs charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of approximately
RMB85,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
RMB427,000), represented contributions paid and/or payable to
the scheme by the Group for the reporting period. Due to the
COVID-19 pandemic spread since early 2020, the PRC
government exempted contributions to the scheme for all small
and medium-sized enterprises from February 2020 to
December 2020.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and chief executive, who are
also key management, is disclosed in note 9.
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 32.

RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 25
January 2017 and became the holding company of the Group
as at 14 March 2017. Information about the statement of
financial position and movements in the reserve of the
Company were as follows:

KRB MBMRR TR

ANRABR2017F1A25BEH S BB s
3o WHN2017F3R14B K A A E B TR A
Ale BEAARBFEMARLNEFEEBEHD
AR

At 31 December

MW12H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BEREE 26 42
Investment in a subsidiary A& M B A A = —
26 42
CURRENT ASSETS mMENE E
Dividend receivable & IR B 19,800 19,800
Prepayments and other receivables T8 538 K E Ath E UL
RIE 186 13
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE Uk BT BB A B FRIE 7,186 23,074
Bank balances and cash RITHEB AR 33,162 22,628
60,334 65,515
CURRENT LIABILITY mEERE
Other payables H i & A E 590 918
590 918
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEEFE 59,744 64,597
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EBERTHBHAEE 59,770 64,639
CAPITAL AND RESERVE BEARRGE
Share capital A& 7 66,192 66,192
Reserve ®E (6,422) (1,553)
TOTAL EQUITY WS A 59,770 64,639
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 3

142

RESERVE OF THE COMPANY (continued)

N

AR TFHMBRARRGEE®

Movements in the Company’s reserve RNARfHEE
Retained
earnings/
(accumulated
losses)
REBEA A
(RatE8E)
RMB’000
AR TR
At 1 January 2019 20191818 4,113
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year FABEREER LR (5,666)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 2019412 A318 K2020F1 418 (1,553)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year FREELRZ2ERAX AR (4,869)
At 31 December 2020 202012 A31H (6,422)
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33. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 33. AME QAR ESR
As at the end of the reporting period, the Company has direct RBEAR  ARABEUATHERARNE
and indirect equity interests in the following subsidiaries: B REERE:

Shareholding/equity

Place and the date of Issued and fully interests attributable to

incorporation/ paid capital/ the Company
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital At 31 December Principal activities
HEMEL/ EETRERZ  R12A3MAKXAH
ME AR AR RItH%K B H BXR/BMER EESREA/BRE FTER
2020 2019
2020F 20194
Langfang Wantong (note a) PRC RMB32,000,000 100% 100%  Sales of burial plots,

26 November 2007 columbarium units,
provision of other
burial-related services and
cemetery maintenance
services

BB &R (M 5a) i AR 32,000,000 100% 100% HEEW FRE - REE
2007F 1174268 i EM ARG REE
HERS
Wan Tong (HK) Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
18 January 2017
EM(EB)ERAA 5 T 100% 100% ®REEK
2017%F14818H
Shing Sheng International Limited* BVI US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
27 January 2017
Shing Sheng International Limited* KEBRAHES (E3 100% 100% ®REER
2017814278
Langfang Wantongyuan Corporation ~ PRC US$30,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd. (note b) 2 March 2017
BHERECXRERRLA H 30,000,000% 7T 100% 100% #REER
(M5Eb) 201743428
BHmEREEZREERAA PRC RMB500,000 100% 100%  Provision of funeral service
(note a) (Langfang City Wantong 23 March 2017
Funeral Services Co., Ltd.)**
ENmERREREERAF G AR #500,0007 100% 100% REBERYE
(Fista) 201743A238
BYhEZEMAEERAF (note a)  PRC RMB30,000,000 79% N/A  Construction and operation
(Langfang Linkong Wantong 31 July 2020 of cemetery, provision of
Cemetery Co., Ltd)** other burial-related
services and cemetery
maintenance services
BHGEEENAEERAA () HE AR %30,000,0007C 9%  TNER BERKEEE REEM
202067A318 BERBRELERS
EL
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33. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

144

Notes:
(a) These companies are PRC limited liability companies.

(b) Langfang Wantongyuan Corporation Investment Co., Ltd. is a
wholly foreign owned company established in the PRC.

* Directly-held by the Company

i English name for identification only
The Group does not have any subsidiaries issuing debt

securities during the year and at the end of the reporting
period.
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